
 
 

 

 Opinion n° 2011-09 
of the 17th October 2011 

relating to the definition and the recognition of expenses 
 and minor amendments to Standard 2 “Expenses”,  
Standard 12 renamed “Non-Financial Liabilities” 
 and Standard 13 “Commitments to be Disclosed  

in the Notes to the Financial Statements” 
of the Central Government Accounting Standards Manual 

On the 17th of October the Public Sector Accounting Standards Council adopted this 

Opinion relating to: 

- the definition and recognition of expenses ; and 

-  minor amendments to Standard 2 “Expenses”, Standard 12 renamed “Non-

Financial Liabilities” and Standard 13 “Commitments to be Disclosed in the 

Notes to the Financial Statements” of the Central Government Accounting 

Standards Manual. 

The amendments proposed in this Opinion lead to consequential amendments of the 

Conceptual Framework, Standard 1 “Financial Statements” and the Glossary of the 

Central Government Accounting Standards Manual. 

The requirements of this Opinion and the proposed amendments are based on the 

version of the Central Government Accounting Standards Manual included in the Order 

of the 8th February 2011 which amends the general accounting rules for Central 

Government and incorporates the four Opinions on Central Government accounting 

standards adopted by the Council on the 15th March 2011 and the 8th July 20111. 
                                                 
1 Opinions of the Public Sector Accounting Standards Council dated the 15 March 2011 and the 8th July 
2011: 

- Opinion n° 2011-02 of the 15th March 2011 relating to the elimination of the concept of Central 
Government policy operator and minor amendments to Standard 7 “Financial Assets” of the Central 
Government Accounting Standards Manual  

- Opinion No. 2011-03 of the 15th March 2011 concerning the accounting treatment of property assets 
with an indeterminable useful life (non-specialised property) and improvements to Standard 6 
"Tangible Assets" of the Central Government Accounting Standards Manual 

- Opinion n° 2011-06 of the 8th July 2011 relating to segment reporting for Central Government  

- Opinion n° 2011-07 of the 8th July 2011 relating to the definition of deferral accounts in the Central 
Government Accounting Standards Manual  
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1. Definition and recognition of expenses  

1.1. Main requirements 

The Council proposes a clarification of the definition of a liability, expenses, 
intervention expenses and indirect operating expenses. 

The main changes are as follows: 

- In the Conceptual Framework, a liability is defined as follows: “A liability is 

an obligation towards another party at the reporting date, which at the date 

the accounts are finalised will probably or certainly give rise to an outflow 

of resources necessary to settle the obligation towards the other party.”  

Expenses are defined as follows: “An expense is a decrease in assets or an 

increase in liabilities which is not directly offset by the entry of a new asset 

or decrease in liabilities. An expense corresponds either to the consumption 

of resources in the production of goods or services, or to an obligation to 

make a payment to another party necessary to settle the obligation towards 

that other party.”; 

- In Standard 2 “Expenses”, transfers, which form part of intervention 

expenses, are defined as payments “to certain identified categories of 

beneficiary as part of aid and support distribution schemes made directly by 

Central Government departments or via independent organisations”. 

Indirect operating expenses are defined as “payments made by Central 

Government to fund the operating costs of entities to which it has delegated 

the implementation, under its supervision, of public policies for which it is 

directly responsible”.  

The Council also proposes a clarification of the rules for recognizing expenses. 

The main changes relate to Standard 2 “Expenses”, which sets out the general 

recognition rule for expenses namely, “performance of the service is the recognition 

criterion” .  

The following detailed rules are defined: 
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- The recognition rule for indirect operating expenses is “the performance of 

the service corresponds to the implementation during the period by the entity 

of the public policy delegated to it by Central Government. The recognition 

by Central Government of that implementation is formalised by an 

appropriation order”;  

- The recognition rule for transfers stipulates that “ the service performed 

corresponds to the fulfilment or the maintenance, over the reporting period, 

of all of the conditions necessary to establish the beneficiary’s rights, which 

are formally recognized by Central Government in an appropriation order 

which is issued prior to, after or concomitantly to the said fulfilment or 

maintenance”. 

In addition, the Council proposes to clarify the interaction of several standards in 
the manual.  

Thus the following text should be added to Standard 2: “Expenses, for which the recognition 
and measurement rules are defined in this standard, include depreciation, allocations to 
provisions and impairment expense. The recognition rules for depreciation and impairment are 
set out in the different standards dealing with assets, Standard 5 “Intangible Assets”, Standard 
6 “Tangible Assets”, Standard 7 “Financial Assets” and Standard 8 “Inventories”. The 
recognition rules for provisions for risks and liabilities, which are liabilities arising from 
allocations to provisions, are set out in Standard 12 “Non-Financial Liabilities”; the latter 
refers to this standard with respect to the recognizing event for expenses.” 

Symmetrically, Standard 12 shall indicate that “non-financial liabilities shall be recognized 
when (…) Central Government has an obligation towards another party relating to the current 
or a previous period (…). With respect to [this] triggering event, Standard 2 “Expenses” 
defines the recognition criterion (…).” 

Lastly, the Council proposes the definition of a new category of off-balance sheet 
commitments relating to the Central Government’s role as economic and social 
regulator. 

The main amendments relate to Standard 13 “Commitments to be Disclosed in the 

Notes to the Financial Statements” in which the new category of commitments is 

defined as “commitments arising from the Central Government’s role as economic and 

social regulator. The latter are possible obligations of Central Government 

representing transfers for which all of the conditions necessary to establish the 

entitlement of the beneficiary have not been fulfilled at the reporting date…”  
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1.2. Qualification of the change 

The Public Sector Accounting Standards Council is of the opinion that the proposed 

amendments should be qualified as a change in accounting policy, in compliance with 

Standard 14 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” of the 

Central Government Accounting Standards Manual. 

1.3. Effective date 

The Public Sector Accounting Standards Council is of the opinion that the requirements 

relating to the definition and recognition of intervention expenses should be applied to 

Central Government’s financial statements as from 2012.  

This applies to the whole of Standard 2 “Expenses”, Standard 12 renamed “Non-

Financial Liabilities”, Standard 13 “Commitments to be Disclosed in the Notes to the 

Financial Statements”, the “Conceptual Framework”, the “Glossary” and Standard 1 

“Financial Statements” of the Central Government Accounting Standards Manual, with 

the exception of the minor amendments referred to in paragraph 2.1 of this Opinion. 

2. Minor amendments to Standard 2 “Expenses”, Standard 12 
“Provisions for Risks and Liabilities, Non-Financial Liabilities and 
Other Liabilities” and Standard 13 “Commitments to be Disclosed 
in the Notes to the Financial Statements” 

2.1. Main requirements 

The Council proposes to make minor amendments to Standard 2 “Expenses”, Standard 12 

renamed “Non-Financial Liabilities” and to Standard 13 “Commitments to be Disclosed in the 

Notes to the Financial Statements” of the Central Government Accounting Standards Manual. 

In the case of Standard 2 “Expenses”, the amendments relate to the position of the 

Standard with regard to other sets of standards, the deletion of the part dealing with 

extraordinary expenses and the deletion of the examples.2 

                                                 
2 The following are amended: paragraph I “Scope”, in the 5th sub-section, paragraph I.4 renamed “The 
Lack of Exceptional Expenses for Central Government”, and paragraph III “Position of the Standard with 
Regard to other Sets of Accounting Standards on First Publication of the Manual in 2004”. 
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 In the case of Standard 12 renamed “Non-Financial Liabilities”, in addition to the 

change in title, the amendments relate to the position of the Standard with regard to 

other sets of standards, the modification of the terminology used to make it consistent 

with that used in previous Opinions of the Council and the definitions for “accrued 

expenses”, “prepaid revenue” and “other liabilities”.3 

In the case of Standard 13 “Commitments to be Disclosed in the Notes to the Financial 

Statements”, the amendments relate to the position of the Standard with regard to other 

sets of standards, and to the deletion of certain examples.4 

2.2. Qualification of the change 

The Public Sector Accounting Standards Council is of the opinion that the minor 
amendments should be qualified as “drafting changes”. These “drafting changes” do not 
constitute a change in accounting policy, a change in accounting estimate or the 
correction of an error. They are therefore not within the scope of Standard 14 
“Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”. 

2.3. Effective date  

The Public Sector Accounting Standards Council is of the opinion that the amendments 

should be applied immediately. 

                                                 
3 The following are amended :  

- Paragraph I of the Introduction (which has also undergone changes in numbering) and paragraph II, 
which has the new name “Position of the Standard with Regard to other Sets of Standards on First 
Publication of the manual in  2004” ; 

- Paragraph 1 Scope (with deletion of sub-parts 1.1 Provisions for risks and liabilities, 1.2 Non-
Financial Debt and 1.3 Other Liabilities) ; Paragraph 2, paragraphs 3.2.1 (renamed Measurement on 
Initial Recognition) and 3.2.2 (renamed Measurement at Reporting Date), as well as paragraph 4 ; 

- The Conceptual Framework, in which the definition of Other Liabilities is amended ; 

- The Glossary, in which two definitions are added: Accrued Expenses and Prepaid Revenue. 
 
4 The following are amended: paragraph II of the Introduction (the title of which is changed to “Position 
of the Standard with Regard to other Sets of Standards on First Publication of the manual in 2004”). 
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STANDARD 2 

 
EXPENSES 
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Standard 2 “Expenses” 

INTRODUCTION 

This Standard defines the Central Government’s expenses and sets out the rules for the recognition and 
measurement of these expenses. 

This Standard has been drawn up taking into account the requirement to reconcile the accounting nature 
of expense with the budget structure for expenditure, by class and category, as stipulated in Article 5 of 
the Constitutional Bylaw. Thus the direct correspondence between accounting expense and budget 
expenditure has been indicated where applicable. However, where this correspondence exists there is no 
strict equivalence. Moreover, certain types of accounting expense, such as depreciation, allocations to 
provisions, impairment and discount on loans have no equivalent in the budget. 

I  – SCOPE  

The Standard identifies the following special characteristics of Central Government accounting: 

-  indirect operating expenses classified as operating expenses; 

-  intervention expenses; 

-  the scope of financial expenses; 

- the lack of a category for exceptional expenses. 

I.1 - Indirect Operating Expenses 

Central Government operating expenses include direct operating expenses and indirect operating 
expenses.  

Indirect operating expenses are a specific feature of the Central Government’s accounts.  

They are defined as payments made by Central Government to fund the operating costs of entities to 
which it has delegated the implementation, under its supervision, of public policies for which it is directly 
responsible.  

They therefore include all expenditure which has the nature of indirect operating expense, irrespective of 
its budget classification. Nevertheless, they correspond mainly to one type of budget expenditure: 
“subsidies for public service expenses”. 

I.2 - Intervention Expenses 

I.2.1 - Definition 

Intervention expenses are a specific feature of the Central Government’s accounts.  
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They are defined as payments made as part of the Central Government’s task of economic and social 
regulation and more particularly, in the case of transfers, as payments made to different categories of 
beneficiary as part of aid and support schemes. 

These expenses correspond mainly to two categories of budget expenditure: “transfers” and “expenses 
arising from government guarantees”. 

Transfers include: 

- “transfers of receipts” (budgetary notion) to local and regional authorities which are Central 
Government expenses (block grants to local and regional authorities made under the terms of 
decentralisation legislation, payments made under equalisation and redistribution measures, 
compensation for tax revenues lost as a result of Central Government decisions and various financial 
incentives, such as the incentives to promote the pooling of municipal services and facilities). These 
expenses are recognized as “transfers to local and regional authorities”; 

- clearance decisions in respect of receivables for local direct taxes where Central Government 
assumes the risk of failure to pay. These transfers are recognized as “transfers to local and regional 
authorities” (write-offs, tax relief and other rebates – see Standard 9 Current Receivables). 

On the other hand, transfers do not include repayment of receipts that the Central Government collects 
on behalf of third parties and for which Central Government does not assume risk (for example, traffic 
fines collected by Central Government and received by local and regional authorities or customs 
resources which are receipts specific to the European Union. Transactions performed on behalf of third 
parties are recognized in the balance sheet of Central Government. They have no impact on the 
surplus/deficit, other than any costs involved in collecting such receipts.. 

I.2.2 - Designated Beneficiaries of Transfers 

The Constitutional Bylaw clearly identifies the beneficiaries of the transfers. The beneficiaries are 
households, businesses, local and regional authorities and other entities. The same categories are used 
for the accounting classification of the transfers. The Standard stipulates four categories of beneficiaries 
and defines them as follows: 

- the Standard applies the definitions from the system of national accounts for “households” and 
“enterprises”, except that the Standard classifies individual businesses as enterprises. The objective is 
to make households consumption units and enterprises production units for goods and services, 
regardless of their legal structure; 

- in its definition of “local and regional authorities”, the Standard, unlike administrative law, does not 
distinguish between two categories of legal entities incorporated under public law, in addition to the 
Central Government:This category of beneficiaries is defined differently than in public law and 
includes in particular intercommunal establishments. Consequently, the definition of “local and 
regional authorities” includes: 

� local and regional authorities per se, meaning regions, départements and communes, along with 
public establishments for cooperation; 

� public establishments with territorial responsibilities (local public establishments for social work, 
medical and social services, construction and education); 

� specific establishments receiving transfers similar to those made to local and regional authorities 
per se. 

- The definition of “other entities” covers the entities that do not fit the definitions of the categories 
above. Such entities include: 
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� entities incorporated under public law, such as public interest groupings, national public 
establishments, social welfare bodies such as the national social security funds, etc.; 

� entities incorporated under company law, such as non-profit institutions serving households under 
the definition given in the system of national accounts rules. These entities are associations, 
foundations, religious groups, etc.; 

� entities with status under international law along with foreign and international institutions 

I.2.3 - End Beneficiary Principle 

The beneficiaries of transfers are the entities explicitly designated as the end recipient of a transfer as 
part of a given public policy measure giving rise to transfers paid directly by Central Government 
departments or indirectly through redistribution bodies.  

I.3 – Central Government Financial Expenses 

Central Government financial expenses relate to financial assets, financial debt, derivative financial 
instruments and the cash position of Central Government. 

For the sake of consistency between the budget and the financial statements, the Standard classifies 
certain items, such as penalties for late payments or exchange rate losses on ordinary management 
transactions, as operating expenses. 

I.4 – The Lack of Exceptional Expenses for the Central Government 

The General Chart of Accounts requires exceptional income and expense to be presented separately from 
the operating result. Public and private sector international accounting standards do not include such 
requirements. The latter approach has been adopted for Central Government; indeed, given the specific 
nature of its activity, the distinction between operating and non-operating transactions is irrelevant. 

II  – RECOGNITION 

II.1 – The Recognition Criterion for Expense: General Rule  

In the case of Central Government, the triggering event and the recognizing event are the same. For this 
reason Standard 2 defines performance of the service as the recognition criterion. This recognition 
criterion is then analysed by nature of expense. 

Expenses, for which the recognition and measurement rules are defined in this standard, include 
depreciation, allocations to provisions and impairment expense. The recognition rules for depreciation 
and impairment are set out in the different standards dealing with assets, Standard 5 “Intangible Assets”, 
Standard 6 “Tangible Assets”, Standard 7 “Financial Assets” and Standard 8 “Inventories”. The 
recognition rules for provisions for risks and liabilities, which are liabilities arising from allocations to 
provisions, are set out in Standard 12 “Non-Financial Liabilities”; the latter refers to this standard with 
respect to the recognizing event for expenses. 

II.2 – The Recognition Criterion for Expense: Specific Case of Intervention Expense 

In the case of intervention expense, which is a category of expense specific to Central Government, 
performance of the service corresponds to the fulfilment of all the conditions necessary to establish the 
beneficiary’s entitlement.  

The conditions may be fulfilled irrespective of whether the beneficiary ultimately exercises its right. 
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This right can only originate within a legal or regulatory framework or be generated by an official 
decision. A simple declaration is insufficient to generate a right. 

II.2.1 – Ways of fulfilling all the conditions for establishing the beneficiary’s rights  

A beneficiary may become entitled to a transfer without official recognition or verification by the 
authorities. Indeed, according to the situation: 

- the conditions for entitlement may be fulfilled before the official appropriation order is issued: this 
occurs when the conditions stipulated in a law, a regulation or any other relevant legal document are 
fulfilled before the application is made and verified by the authorities; 

- the conditions for entitlement are fulfilled after an initial appropriation order is issued by the 
authorities: this occurs when a series of conditions stipulated in a law, a regulation or any other 
relevant legal document are fulfilled or continue to be fulfilled after the initial application is made and 
verified by the authorities, for example where there are conditions related to annual resource levels or 
attendance. The beneficiary’s entitlement is only established to the extent of the conditions that are 
fulfilled or continue to be fulfilled during the reporting period; 

-  the conditions for the beneficiary’s entitlement are fulfilled as the result of an official appropriation 
order: in this case the communication of the decision to the beneficiary by the relevant administrative 
authority, and that decision alone, is binding for Central Government. 

As a result, the requirements of the Standard stipulate that the formal recognition by Central Government 
of the fulfilment or the maintenance of all of the conditions necessary to establish the beneficiary’s rights 
takes the form of an appropriation order which is issued prior to, after or concomitantly to the said 
fulfilment or maintenance. 

It should be noted that transfers, for which all the conditions necessary to establish the beneficiary’s 
rights are not fulfilled at the reporting date or where fulfilment is required for future periods, are 
disclosed in off balance sheet commitments according to the principles set out in Standard 13 
“Commitments To Be Disclosed in the Notes to The Financial Statements”. 

II.2.2 – Elements not considered to be conditions for establishing the beneficiary’s rights 

Ability of the beneficiary to claim its rights in the future 

When all the conditions for establihing the beneficiary’s rights are fulfilled at the reporting date, it is 
presumed that the beneficiary will be able to claim its rights in the future5. 

Availability of credit 

Although the payments are subject to budget autorisation, the latter is not a condition for establishing the 
beneficiary’s rights. 

III  – POSITION WITH REGARD TO OTHER SETS OF STANDARDS ON FIRST APPROVAL OF THE MANUAL OF 
CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS IN 2004 

In accordance with article 30 of the Constitutional Bylaw of the 1st August 2001 relating to budget acts, 
this Standard has been drawn up in compliance with the general principles applicable to business 
accounting, except for differences warranted by the specific nature of Central Government activity. 

                                                 
5 Thus, it is presumed that a natural person will remain alive and that a corporate entity will pursue its activity. 
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For expenses of the same type encountered by businesses (direct operating expenses and financial 
expenses) the accounting rules comply with the French General Chart of Accounts, except for financial 
expenses related to transactions for derivative financial instruments and foreign currency transactions.  

The accounting rules for these transactions are taken from the French Banking Regulation Committee 
Regulations 88-02 of 22nd February1988, as amended, for the accounting treatment of interest rate 
futures, 90-15 of 18th December 1990, as amended, for the accounting treatment of interest rate and 
currency swaps and 89-01 of 22nd June 1989, as amended, for the accounting treatment of foreign 
currency transactions (see Standard 11 on financial debt and derivative financial instruments); 

For expenses specific to Central Government (indirect operating expenses and intervention expenses) 
there are no known accounting standards that are applicable. 

Therefore the accounting rules set out in the Standard comply with ordinary law principles, adapted to 
reflect the specific nature of these expenses. The Standard consequenttly defines appropriate recognition 
principles for indirect operating expenses and intervention expenses. 
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REQUIREMENTS  

1. SCOPE AND DEFINITIONS 

1.1 SCOPE  

This Standard shall apply to Central Government expenses, which are defined as a decrease in assets or 
an increase in liabilities that is not directly offset by the entry of a new asset or a decrease in liabilities. 

Central Government expenses correspond either to the consumption of resources as part of the production 
of goods or services, or to an obligation to make a payment to another party necessary to settle the 
obligation toward that other party. Expenses, for which the recognition and measurement rules are 
defined in this Standard, include allocations to provisions. 

1.2 EXPENSE CATEGORIES  

1.2.1 Operating Expenses 

Operating expenses arise from the Central Government’s ordinary activities. They include direct 
operating expenses and indirect operating expenses. 

1.2.1.1 Direct Operating Expenses 

Direct operating expenses include: 

- purchases of goods and supplies and work and services consumed directly by the Central Government 
in the course of its ordinary activities; 

- staff costs, including the compensation of Central Government employees in cash and sometimes in 
kind and the expenses related to this compensation. These costs include: 

� compensation of employees, including basic pay, overtime, bonuses, gratuities, compensation for 
expenses and various benefits in cash and in kind, holiday pay and family supplements, and 
amounts payable in respect of the Time Savings Account; 

� social security expenses, contributions to provident funds and direct contributions, including the 
employer’s contributions that the Central Government pays to social bodies and its contributions to 
the National Family Allowance Fund (“CNAF”); 

� employer-provided benefits including mandatory social benefits that the Central Government pays 
directly to its employees, who do not make contributions to the social security funds; 

� other social expenses, including the optional social benefits; 

� other staff costs; 

- payments arising from a legal obligation other than payments related to staff costs (taxes and similar 
payments); 

- clearance decisions that do not cancel the validity of the initially recognized receivables collected on 
behalf of the Central Government. 

-   depreciation and impairment of assets and the net carrying amount of disposals 
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1.2.1.2 Indirect Operating Expenses 

Indirect operating expenses are payments made by Central Government to fund the operating costs of 
entities to which it has delegated the implementation, under its supervision, of public policies for which it 
is directly responsible.  

Indirect operating costs consist mainly of subsidies for public service expenses, which are a category of 
budgetary expense under constitutional bylaw. 

1.2.2 Intervention Expenses 

1.2.2.1 Intervention Expenses 

Intervention expenses are payments that the Central Government makes as part of its economic and social 
regulation role. These payments are made: 

- as part of aid and support distribution schemes to certain categories of beneficiary identified in 
paragraph 1.2.2.2 below, either directly by Central Government departments or indirectly via 
independent organisations; 

- in application of the guarantee of Central Government. 

Intervention expenses comprise mainly transfers and payments made in application of Central 
Government guarantees, which are a budget expense category included in constitutional bylaw. 

1.2.2.2 Transfer Beneficiaries 

The transfer beneficiaries are the end beneficiaries of the public policy measures or systems in question, 
both in the case of transfers made directly by the government and in the case of indirect transfers made 
through redistribution bodies. 

There are four categories of beneficiaries: 

- households, which are individuals or groups of individuals considered as consumers; 

- enterprises, which are production units for goods and services, regardless of their legal structure, as 
long as the sales of their goods and services cover more than 50% of their production costs. This 
includes agricultural and non-agricultural individual enterprises, financial and non-financial 
corporations in the public and private sectors, national public establishments in industry and trade and 
all other entities that meet the sales revenue criterion mentioned above; 

- local and regional authorities, which are local and regional authorities per se, meaning communes, 
départements, regions and their affiliated or associated public establishments, along with public 
establishments with regional responsibilities; 

- other entities, which are entities incorporated under public law, private law or international law that do 
not belong to the other categories defined above. 

1.2.3 Financial Expenses 

Financial expenses arise from financial debts, derivative financial instruments, cash position and financial 
assets. They do not include bank service charges, penalties for late payments or interest and exchange rate 
losses on transactions other than those related to financing and cash position. 

These expenses include: 

- interest expenses on financial debts, cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and 
various debts related to financing and cash transactions; 



 
 
 
 

 
14 

 

- exchange rate losses related to financial debts and derivative financial instruments denominated in 
foreign currency; 

- net expenses from disposals of cash equivalents, meaning the capital losses incurred on disposal of the 
relevant cash equivalents; 

- other financial expenses related to financing and cash transactions, or to financial assets. 

2. RECOGNITION  

2.1 1 GENERAL RECOGNITION RULE 

The recognition criterion for expenses shall be the performance of the service.  

2.2 APPLICATION TO SPECIFIC EXPENSE CATEGORIES  

2.2.1 Direct Operating Expenses 

In the case of direct operating expenses, the performance of the service may take different forms because 
of the diversity of expenses making up this category. It may take the following forms: 

- in the case of goods, performance of the service corresponds to the delivery of the supplies or 
goods ordered ; 

- for services, the criterion shall be the performance of the service. However, the issuance costs 
of debt securities may be spread over the life of the securities as is appropriate considering 
the redemption conditions ; 

- for staff compensation, the performance of the service is the service rendered by the 
employee ; 

- for long term contracts the performance of the service is determined according to the stage of 
completion on the reporting date. When it is likely that the total expenses related to the 
contract will be greater than the total revenues, the expected loss shall be recognized as an 
expense. 

In the case of expenses arising as a result of a risk related to the ordinary activity of Central Government, 
the recognition criterion is the risk- generating event. This applies in particular to litigation. 

2.2.2 Indirect Operating Expenses 

In the case of indirect operating expenses, the performance of the service corresponds to the implementation 
during the period by the entity of the public policy delegated to it by Central Government. The recognition 
by Central Government of that implementation is formalised by an appropriation order.  
 

2.2.3 Intervention Expenses 

For transfers the service performed corresponds to the fulfilment or the maintenance, over the reporting 
period, of all of the conditions necessary to establish the beneficiary’s rights, which are formally 
recognized by Central Government in an appropriation order which is issued prior to, after or 
concomitantly to the said fulfilment or maintenance. 

In the case of expenses arising from the application of a Central Government guarantee, the recognition 
criterion is the fulfilment of all the conditions required for the guarantee to be called up or could lead to it 
being called up. 
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2.2.4 Financial Expenses 

The recognition criterion for interest expense shall be the other party’s entitlement to the interest prorata 
temporis. 

Financial expenses for discounts shall be recognized according to the portion of the discount for the year 
as calculated by the actuarial method. 

The recognition principle for financial expenses constituting losses shall be the recognition of the losses 
when they occur, except in the case of derivative financial instruments used for hedging, where the 
criterion shall be the recognition of the revenues from the hedged item starting from the maturity of the 
derivative contract 

3. DISCLOSURES IN THE NOTES 

The nature and the amount of deferred expense as well as the method used for periodic allocation are set 
out in the notes. 

The notes shall disclose the nature and the amounts of significant contributions in kind that the Central 
Government makes to other parties, which usually consist of loans of staff, and movable and immovable 
property. 



 
 
 
 

 
16 

 

STANDARD 12 

 
NON-FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

 



 
 
 
 

 
17 

 

 

 

Standard 12 “Non-Financial Liabilities” 

 

INTRODUCTION 

This Standard deals with non-financial debts, provisions for risks and liabilities and other liabilities. 

I – SCOPE 

I.1 – Non-Financial Debts 

Non-financial debts are certain liabilities of precisely defined amount and timing.  

Accrued expenses, which are reported with non-financial debts, are certain liabilities of which the 
amount or the timing is estimated but with a lesser degree of uncertainty than for provisions for risks and 
liabilities.  

Non-financial debts include: 

- operating debt, such a trade payables and related items; 

- intervention debt, such as the debts related to Central Government transfers; 

- other non-financial debt, such as debts for fixed assets, the Central Government’s tax liabilities (VAT 
credits) or instalment payments received for taxes (corporate income tax, for example). 

Prepaid revenue is a category of non-financial debt. It corresponds to revenue received or recognized by 
the Central Government at the reporting date, in respect of services to be performed for, or goods to be 
delivered to, another party after the reporting date. In this case, Central Government has an obligation 
toward the other party since it is compelled, in exchange for the revenues received, to incur an outflow of 
resources in favour of the other party, in the form of the performance of a service or the delivery of 
goods. 

I. 2 – Provisions for Risks and Liabilities 

Provisions for risks and liabilities are liabilities for which the timing or the amount is uncertain. They 
include: 

- provisions for all types of non-financial expenses; 

- provisions for risks, such as those related to litigation… 

I. 3 – Other Liabilities 

By nature, other liabilities constitute a category that is specific to the Central Government, representing 
liabilities of a precisely defined amount and uncertain timing.  

They include: 
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- Treasury notes and bills issued on behalf of international organisations, which are certain liabilities 
recorded in the Central Government’s balance sheet for an exact amount, since they represent the 
Central Government’s contribution to such organisations. However, the maturity of these Treasury 
notes and bills is not determined precisely. International organisations accept these securities in place 
of some or all of the money that the Central Government owes them and which they deem to be 
unnecessary for their operations. Consequently, they only redeem the securities when they need the 
money. 

- counterpart of coins in circulation, which is a certain liability recorded in the Central Government’s 
balance sheet for a precise amount to the extent that if members of the public sought to dispose of 
their coin holdings, the Central Government would have to reimburse them. However, the 
reimbursement date is uncertain. 

II – POSITION OF THE STANDARD WITH REGARD TO OTHER SETS OF STANDARDS OF FIRST APPROVAL OF 
THE CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS MANUAL IN 2004 

In accordance with article 30 of the Constitutional Bylaw of the 1st August 2001 relating to budget acts, 
this Standard has been drawn up in compliance with the general principles applicable to business 
accounting, except for differences warranted by the specific nature of Central Government activity. 

Therefore, the requirements of the Standard in relation to non-financial liabilities have been drawn up in 
compliance with the principles of the General Chart of Accounts. 

The requirements relating to prepaid revenue, which were not included in the Standard when it was first 
approved in 2004, have been added since in compliance with the principles of the General Chart of 
Accounts as already mentioned above. 
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REQUIREMENTS 

 

 

1. SCOPE AND DEFINITIONS 

This Standard shall apply to: non-financial debt, to provisions for risks and liabilities and to other 
liabilities. 

However, this Standard shall not apply to provisions for financial instruments as defined in Standard 11 
“Financial Debts and Derivative Financial Instruments”, or to the provision for aggregate risk on Central 
Government equity investments measured using the equity method as defined in Standard 7 “Financial 
Assets”. 

Non-financial debts are liabilities of precisely defined timing and amount. Accrued expenses are reported 
with them. Non-financial debts are the balancing entries for the different types of expense defined in 
Standard 2 “Expenses”. Prepaid revenue is a category of non-financial debt. 

Provisions for risks and liabilities are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. They are the balancing 
entry for the different expense categories defined in Standard 2 “Expenses” or for tangible assets, in the 
case of provisions for dismantling according to the requirements of Standard 6 “Tangible Assets”. 

Other liabilities are, by nature, a category of liabilities specific to Central Government, corresponding to 
for a precisely defined amount with uncertain timing. 

2. RECOGNITION  

Non-financial liabilities shall be recognized when the three following cumulative conditions are fulfilled: 

- the Central Government has an obligation towards another party relating to the current or an earlier 
reporting period; 

- it is certain or probable that an outflow of resources will be necessary to settle the obligation towards 
the other party; 

- the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

With respect to the first condition for recognition, Standard 2 “Expenses” defines the recognition criterion 
for the different categories of expense, which apply to the related non-financial liabilities. 

With respect to the second and third conditions for recognition, the probability of an outflow of resources 
and the estimation of the amount are assessed at the latest at the date at which the accounts are finalized, 
in compliance with the requirements of Standard 15 “Events After the Reporting Date”. 

2.1 RECOGNITION OF NON-FINANCIAL DEBT AND OTHER L IABILITIES  

Non-financial liabilities corresponding to non-financial debt and other liabilities are recognized subject to 
the three above-mentioned cumulative conditions, when Central Government has an obligation towards 
another party and it is certain or probable that the obligation wil give rise to an outflow of resources 
necessary to settle the obligation. 

Prepaid revenue, which is a category of non-financial debt, is recognized when revenue received or 
recognized by Central Government at the reporting date relates to services to be performed or goods to be 
delivered after the reporting date. It represents an obligation of Central Government towards the 
beneficiary of the service to be performed or the goods to be delivered. 
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2.2 RECOGNITION OF PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND LIABILITIES  

Non-financial liabilities, corresponding to provisions for risks and liabilities are recognized subject to the 
three above-mentioned cumulative conditions, when Central Government has an obligation towards another 
party and it is certain or probable that the obligation will give rise to an outflow of resources necessary to 
settle the obligation, the amount or the timing of which cannot be precisely determined. 

3. MEASUREMENT 

3.1 MEASUREMENT OF NON -FINANCIAL DEBT AND OTHER LIABILITIES  

Non-financial debt and other liabilities shall be measured at their face value. 

Non-financial debt denominated in foreign currencies shall be converted into national currency using the 
most recent exchange rate. 

Prepaid revenue, which is a category of non-financial debt, is measured at the amount of revenue 
representing the outstanding service to be performed or goods to be delivered. 

3.2 MEASUREMENT OF PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND LIABILITIES  

3.2.1 Measurement on Initial Recogniton 

Measurement Principle 

The provisions for risks and liabilities shall be valued at the amount representing the best estimate of the 
outflow of funds needed to settle the obligation towards another party. The expenses to be taken into 
consideration are the ones that contribute directly to the settlement of the obligation. 

Measurement Procedures 

The determination of the amount of the provision is made on an individual or a statistical basis. 

Several measurement assumptions can be made about the outflow of resources, but the best estimate is the 
one based on the most probable assumption, meaning the assumption that covers a large number of 
similar cases. Uncertainties about the measurement assumptions that are not used should be mentioned in 
the notes. The estimated amount of provisions for risks and liabilities shall represent the best estimate of 
the expenditures required to settle the Central Government’s obligation towards the other party. 

The estimated amount must take account of two parameters: 

- the impact of future events, when there is objective evidence that these events will occur. Only data 
available at the date at which the Central Government draws up its own financial statements shall be 
used to estimate the probable amount of the outflow of resources; 

- compliance with the principle of no offsets: the provision amount must not be reduced by the value of 
an asset to be received when reimbursement is expected of the expenditures required to settle an 
obligation. 

3.2.2 Measurement at Reporting Date  

The amount of provisions for risks and liabilities shall be adjusted at each reporting date to account for 
the best estimate at that date.  

The rules on the valuation of provisions for risks and liabilities on initial recognition shall apply to 
subsequent measurement as well. 

Provisions that are no longer needed shall be cancelled. Such provisions represent those for obligations 
that the Central Government no longer has or obligations where it is no longer probable that an outflow of 
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resources will be necessary to settle the Central Government’s obligation towards the other party. The 
result is: 

- either a decrease or an increase in the amount of the provision; 
- or a cancellation of the provision amount, when the provision is no longer needed. 

 

4. DISCLOSURES IN THE NOTES 

4.1 INFORMATION ON NON -FINANCIAL DEBT  

The nature and amount of prepaid revenue are set out in the notes. 

The nature and amount of accrued expenses are set out in the notes. 

4.2 INFORMATION ON PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND LIABILITIES  

Information shall be provided about the following for each category of provisions for risks and liabilities: 

- the carrying amount of the provisions for risks and liabilities at the start and at the end of the period; 

- the amounts of the provisions for risks and liabilities set aside during the period; 

- the amounts used during the period; 

- the unused amounts cancelled during the period. 

Information shall be provided about the following for each individual provision for risks and liabilities of 
significant amount: 

- the nature of the obligation and the expected expenditure date of the amounts set aside; 
- uncertainties about the amounts and timing of the expenditures, and, when necessary, the main 

assumptions made about future events in the estimate; 
- the amount of any expected reimbursement with details about the amount of any asset recognised for 

this reimbursement.  

The notes shall also provide information about any changes in methods or structures. 

Cases where it is not possible to provide some of the information required or where it is not possible to 
make a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation shall be mentioned in the notes. 

In cases where providing the required information would be harmful to the Central Government’s interest 
in a dispute with another entity about the matter giving rise to a provision for risks and liabilities, the 
information in the notes shall be restricted to a general discussion of the nature of the dispute, the fact that 
the information has not been provided and the reason for this. 
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STANDARD 13 

 
COMMITMENTS TO BE DISCLOSED IN 
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Standard 13 “Commitments to be Disclosed in the Notes to the Financial 
Statements” 

INTRODUCTION 

This Standard identifies the Central Government commitments that should be disclosed in the notes to the 
Central Government’s financial statements because of their materiality and their possible impact on the 
assets and liabilities that make up the Central Government’s financial situation. These commitments are 
called “off-balance sheet commitments”. 

This Standard also sets out the procedures for recognition and measurement of these commitments. 

I  – SPECIFICITY OF THE STANDARD  

I.1 – No Transposable Accounting Standard for the Central Government 

The specificity of this Standard stems from the lack of any other accounting standards that can be 
transposed to the Central Government’s activities. The French General Chart of Accounts does not 
provide a precise definition of the commitments to be reported in the financial statements. The only 
allusion to “off-balance sheet commitments” is made to introduce a special accounting category, class 8. 

This means that there are no official business accounting standards for reporting commitments. The 
presentation of commitments must be aimed at providing information that complies with general 
accounting principles and the principle of faithful representation in particular. The types of commitments 
that need to be disclosed in the notes are often determined on the basis of the enterprise’s business 
activities and the scope of its responsibilities.  

The situation is different for the Central Government, because: 

- in addition to ordinary commitments, it may be called upon to cover risks in its role as the 
“insurer of last resort”. Increasingly, the Central Government is called upon to cover economic 
risks (restructurings), climatic risks (heat waves, storms), food risks (bovine spongiform 
encephalopathy), health risks (contaminated blood products), etc. It is difficult to draw up the 
list of such risks or to determine the probabilities involved.  Any exceptionally important event 
tends to entail an implicit commitment on the part of the Central Government, even when its 
liability has not been established. 

- Central Government is required to assume commitments as part of its role as economic and 
social regulator. It may prove difficult to identify the event which gives rise to a commitment of 
this kind. It may be any one of a series of events going from a political commitment to an 
appropriation order. 

 This makes it more difficult to establish the complete list of commitments for a Central Government than 
it is for an enterprise.  

However, in compliance with the principle of faithful representation stipulated in Article 27 of the 
Constitutional bylaw, all of the Central Government’s commitments must be disclosed in the notes. This 
requirement is upheld in Article 54, which stipulates that the Central Government must provide a 
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estimation of off-balance sheet commitments in the Central Government’s general-purpose financial 
statements. 

There does not seem to be any problem with establishing a list of the commitments in the form of 
“guarantees”, which are granted and managed under the terms of Article 34, II, 5 of the Constitutional 
bylaw. This list is easy to disclose in the notes to the Central Government balance sheet. 

The identification and disclosure in the notes to the financial statements of commitments relating to the 
Central Government’s role as economic and social regulator are based on the principles used to define 
contingent liabilities.  

In the case of transfers, Central Government has a possible obligation, when under a given scheme, an 
initial appropriation decision has been taken that may have a pluriannual effect, but where all of the 
conditions necessary to establish the entitlement of the beneficiary have not been fulfilled at the reporting 
date or where the said conditions have to continue to be fulfilled for future periods. 

For example, this occurs when payments made under pluriannual schemes are subject to resource levels 
and the fulfilment of the resource condition has to be confirmed on an annual basis. Payments to be made 
for future periods therefore represent possible obligations of Central Government. 

On the other hand, it is difficult to draw up a complete list of other commitments to cover unidentified 
risks, particularly in the case of implicit Central Government commitments towards other parties. 

Consequently, the commitments that should be mentioned in the notes relate to contingent liabilities 
arising from: 
- commitments given under the terms of agreements; 

- commitments relating to Central Government’s role as economic and social regulator;  

- commitments stemming from litigation invoking the Central Government’s liability and obligations 
acknowledged by the Central Government that do not meet the conditions for being recorded as 
provisions for risks; 

- pension commitments. 

The Central Government also receives commitments. The same principles governing the scope and 
recording rules and procedures are used for commitments given and commitments received. 

I.2 – Civil Service Pension Commitments 

French regulations applying to commerce stipulate that “the enterprise’s commitments for pensions, 
retirement bonuses, compensation and allowances for retirement and other similar benefits for employees 
and partners shall be disclosed in the notes. Enterprises may also decide to report an amount 
corresponding to some or all of these commitments in the form of a provision on the balance sheet” 
(Article L 123-13 of the Commercial Code). However, in its Recommendation 2003 R 01 on the 
recognition and measurement rules for pension commitments, the French National Accounting Council 
stated its preference for reporting enterprises’ commitments on the balance sheet. If the Central 
Government’s situation were to be assimilated with that of an employer, it would be better to choose the 
method providing the best information in this case and report the commitment as a liability. 

The French National Account Council’s Recommendation adopts most of the requirements of IAS 19. 
These requirements shall come into force in 2005 for the consolidated accounts of listed groups, under 
the terms of a European Regulation. They stipulate that employers must recognise the commitments 
representing the retirement benefits that they undertake to pay their employees as a liability. This 
Standard defines three categories of retirement plans: State plans, defined contribution plans and defined 
benefit plans. Since the Standard applies to enterprises, it does not deal with the State plans in the first 
category, since these are not the employers’ own plans. 
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The IFAC Public Sector Committee has started discussions on the accounting treatment of social policy 
obligations. The discussions have focused on the accounting treatment of pensions paid by State plans, 
but pending the conclusion of these discussions, the issue of civil service pensions has not be dealt with 
explicitly. More specifically, the accounting treatment of pay-as-you-go retirement plans is still an open 
question. 

Even though many countries have reported pension commitments as a liability (United States, Canada, 
Australia, New Zealand), Sweden is the only European country to have introduced such a reporting 
procedure for retirement plans that are the direct responsibility of the Central Government. 

The lack of a standard on State plans and the issue of the existence and nature of commitments arising 
from such plans raise serious problems for comparisons between countries where such plans are highly 
developed. 

Pending an international position on these issues, this Standard opts for the principle of a disclosure in 
the notes. It should be noted that future developments could cause a change of position on this point. 

The commitment referred to in the appendix covering the civil service pension is measured by using the 
projected unit credit method presented in IAS 19 “employee benefits”. In order to calculate the civil 
servants pension commitments, the scope is restricted solely to the statutory civil servants’ pensions 
excluding ancillary receipts and expenses related to civil servants pensions (contributions, transfers due 
to old age demographic offsetting between pension schemes), grants and pension expenses currently 
guaranteed by the Central Government or likely to be guaranteed in subsequent periods, as well as 
operating expenses. 

II  – POSITION OF THE STANDARD WITH REGARD TO OTHER SETS OF STANDARDS ON FIRST APPROVAL OF 
THE MANUAL OF CENTRAL GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS IN 2004. 

In accordance with article 30 of the Constitutional Bylaw of the 1st August 2001 relating to budget acts, 
this Standard has been drawn up in compliance with the general principles applicable to business 
accounting, except for differences warranted by the specific nature of Central Government activity. 

It is based on the following accounting standards:  

- French Accounting Regulation Committee Regulation 2000-06 of 7th December 2000 on liabilities; 

- French National Accounting Council Recommendation 2003 R 01 and IAS 19 on “employee benefits”; 

- The recommendations of the French Securities Exchange Commission (COB) suggesting models for 
disclosures in the notes on commitments incurred by enterprises in the private sector; 

- banking practices via the illustrative models proposed by the French Chart of Accounts for credit 
institutions; 

- comparative law. 
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REQUIREMENTS  

1. SCOPE 

1.1 COMMITMENTS COVERED BY THE STANDARD  

The commitments to be disclosed in the notes to the Central Government financial statements shall fit the 
general definition of contingent liabilities, which are: 
- a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the Central Government; or 

- a Central Government obligation towards another party where it is not probable or certain that the 
obligation will give rise to an outflow of resources necessary to settle the obligation.  

The contingent liability is thus different from a provision for risks to the extent that, even though the 
amount and timing are uncertain, a provision represents a probable or unconditional obligation at the 
reporting date. 

The Standard shall also apply to commitments received, for which the rules and procedures for 
disclosures in the notes are the same as those for commitments given. 

1.2 COMMITMENT CATEGORIES  

Central Government commitments to be disclosed in the notes fall into four categories: 

- the first category covers commitments given under the terms of clearly defined agreements. These are 

financial or contractual commitments given by the Central Government. These commitments are 

characterised by contracts or legal documents that are binding on the Central Government and the 

other entity. They include: 

� Debt guarantees 

� Guarantees relating to general interest tasks: 
o Insurance schemes; 

o Savings protection guarantees; 

o Exchange rate guarantees given to central banks. 

� Guarantees of liabilities: 
o Disposals and restructuring of government business enterprises; 

o Guarantees related to the implementation of special structures; 

o Other liabilities. 

� Central Government financial commitments: 
o Co-financing contracts; 

o Derivative financial instruments; 

o Other financial commitments: including budgetary commitments (utilisation of budget 
authorisations included in the budget act) relating to transactions where the service has not been 
performed (for example an order which has not been delivered). 
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- the second category covers commitments arising from the Central Government’s role as economic 
and social regulator. The latter are possible obligations of Central Government representing transfers 
for which all of the conditions necessary to establish the entitlement of the beneficiary have not been 
fulfilled at the reporting date or where the said conditions have to continue to be fulfilled for future 
periods ; 

- the third category concerns commitments stemming from proven litigation invoking the Central 
Government’s liability and obligations acknowledged by the Central Government that do not meet 
the conditions for being recorded as provisions for risks; 

- the last category is more specific. It covers the Central Government’s commitments for pensions. 
The commitment is equivalent to the Entitlement awards to pensions of current and former 
employees calculated for the full service period completed by the employees at the reporting date. 

2. PROCEDURES FOR DISCLOSURES IN THE NOTES 

Central Government commitments shall be deemed material when they provide users with useful 
information about their possible impact on the Central Government’s statement of financial position at the 
reporting date. 

Measurement of these commitments is not always possible. 

There are two disclosure procedures: the disclosure of an objective and unequivocal amount for the 
commitment or else a detailed description of the commitment.  

In both cases, the Central Government commitment to be disclosed in the notes must actually be 
identified: the obligation must exist at the reporting date even though its enforcement may be conditional. 
In this case, the obligation is a possible obligation. If the obligation becomes certain at the reporting date, 
it shall still be reported as an off-balance sheet commitment for the Central Government as long as the 
outflow of resources is improbable or uncertain. If an obligation is certain at the reporting date and the 
outflow of resources is certain or probable at the date at which the Central Government draws up its own 
financial statements, it shall be recognised as a liability in the Central Government balance sheet. 

Two situations determine the procedures for disclosures in the notes: 

- a commitment amount shall be disclosed in the notes, when the valuation of the obligation can be 
derived directly from a legal document or from practices relating to the commitment, or when the 
obligation cannot be measured at the reporting date, but could be measured at time the financial 
statements are drawn up on the basis of criteria that are specific to the nature of the commitment; 

- a detailed description of the commitment and the liability risks must be included in the notes when the 
measurement of the obligation cannot be made upon recognition or at the reporting date. 

If measurement of the commitment is possible, it is preferable to record the amount instead of a 
description only. However, the description must be provided in addition to and as clarification for 
information on amounts. 

3. MEASUREMENT  

The measurement procedure for a commitment depends on the specific characteristics of the category that 
it belongs to:  

- if a commitment is made under the terms of an agreement, the total amount of the guarantee given 
must be disclosed; 

- if a commitment arises as a result of the Central Government’s role of economic and social regulator, 
measurement, where possible, consists of an estimation. The latter may be expressed as a range of 
values ; 
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- if a commitment stems from litigation invoking the Central Government’s liability or from an 
obligation acknowledged by the Central Government, measurement, if possible, shall consist of 
providing an estimate falling within a range or the maximum amount of the risk; 

- if the commitment relates to pensions, the projected unit credit method shall be used to estimate 
employees’ benefits and, more particularly, the retirement benefits under the current Central 
Government employees’ pension plan. The method measures the present value of pension of retired 
employees and entitlements to pensions of current employees at the measurement date, under the 
assumption that there are no changes in legislation. The entitlements to pensions of current employees 
are measured on the basis of likely career advancement using the current parameters of the pension 
plan. These entitlements are pro-rated on the basis of the years of service completed at the 
measurement date as a fraction of the years of service required upon retirement. The commitments 
calculated only concern individuals present at the reference date (future hires are not included in the 
calculation). Similarly the career advancement of current employees is taken into account. Retirement 
dates are calculated using the retirement rates observed at the measurement date. The indices and 
benefit levels used to calculate future pension benefits are the ones observed at the measurement date, 
adjusted to account for the increase in average wages. The discount rate applied is determined by 
reference to the yield on long-term government bonds with maturity dates matching the duration of the 
related commitments.  
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EXAMPLES 

I  – DEBT GUARANTEES 

Debt guarantees pertain to two types of debts: guaranteed debt per se and debt managed by the Central 
Government. 

Guaranteed debt encompasses the obligations of French companies, national enterprises, local 
governments, public establishments and banking institutions that are guaranteed by the Central 
Government. This means that the Central Government has committed itself to stepping in and making the 
interest payments or principal payments set out in the loan contract if the original debtor defaults. The 
guarantee may cover loans or other commitments that institutions and businesses contract in France and 
in other countries.  

The conditions for granting Central Government guarantees are set out in Article 73 of Act 46-2914 of 
23rd December 1946. The guarantee may be given only under legislative provisions for long, medium or 
short-term commitments, or for interest and principal payments relating to specific loans.  

II  – GUARANTEES RELATING TO GENERAL INTEREST TASKS 

II.1 – Insurance Schemes 

CCR (caisse centrale de réassurance) is a reinsurance company that is fully owned by the Central 
Government. 

It provides the Central Government with excess loss reinsurance coverage for losses exceeding 90% of 
existing technical reserves for some risks that cannot be insured on the market. These risks are managed 
by CCR. The Central Government guarantees apply to a restrictive list of risks: extra hazard 
transportation risks, nuclear risks, natural disasters, bombings and acts of terrorism. 

COFACE (compagnie française d’assurance pour le commerce extérieur) 

The Central Government guarantees the cash position of COFACE each year. As part of the procedures 
to promote exports, this company offers guarantees on behalf of the Central Government for risks that 
cannot be insured on the market. A COFACE guarantee may consist, for example, of covering an 
exporter or an exporter’s bank against the risk of non-repayment of an export credit, but it may also 
cover political risks and risks related to fluctuations in the exchange rates for the currencies used to 
invoice exports. The exchange rate coverage protects French exporters against the risk of variations in 
the exchange rate of a currency between the time when they bid on a foreign contract and the time when 
they receive the payments arising from the contract. COFACE therefore assumes the exchange rate risk, 
along with the risk of not signing a trade contract. 

II.2 - Savings Protection Guarantees 

Savings Funds 

This Central Government guarantee protects savers. The procedures are different for the different 
organisations and savings products concerned. 

Funds deposited on passbook accounts with the Caisses d’Epargne banks are centralised with the Caisse 
des Dépôts et Consignations and are guaranteed by the Central Government. 

Furthermore, all of the activities of the Caisse Nationale d’Epargne are backed up by a Central 
Government guarantee, under the terms of France’s Monetary and Financial Code. 

The law stipulates that the Central Government guarantee shall cover repayment of principal, interest 
and extra compensation paid on deposits in People’s Savings Scheme passbook accounts. 

The Central Government only steps in the event of a default by the reserve funds that savings 
organisations have set up for each type of financial product. 
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Homebuyers’ Savings Plans 

The Central Government pays a bonus to savers with homebuyers’ savings accounts. 

II.3 – Exchange Rate Guarantees Given to Central Banks 

These guarantees cover foreign exchange transactions involving deposits taken from the central banks of 
West African States and the Central Bank of Central African States and the Central Bank of the Comoros. 
The guarantees also apply to deposits with the Banque de France. 

III  – LIABILITY GUARANTEES  

III.1 - Disposals and Restructuring of Government Business Enterprises 

When an enterprise is sold, a liability guarantee is established to protect the buyer against possible risks 
that could jeopardise the soundness of its investment decision. The buyer may ask the vendor for a 
liability guarantee in order to limit this risk. 

Thus when a given enterprise is sold to a private sector investor (privatisations, etc.), the Central 
Government may give guarantees in the form of future reductions in the selling price if, for example, the 
value of the buildings belonging to the enterprise sold turned out to be lower than the estimated value at 
the time of the sale. 

III.2 – Guarantees Provided to Special Structures 

These guarantees are the ones provided to structures called “special-purpose entities”, which are 
created especially to manage a transaction or a group of similar transactions on behalf of the Central 
Government. The activities of these entities are carried out with the assets, goods and services, or capital 
provided to them. 

 III.3 – Other Liabilities 

These are guarantees for specific purposes or beneficiaries: 

- voluntary winding up of enterprises; 

- recapitalisation transactions. 

 

IV  – CENTRAL GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS  

IV.1 – Cofinancing Contracts 

These are commitments to third parties to finance Central Government operations under national 
agreements, such as the planning contracts between the Central Government and regional governments, 
and under international agreements and, more specifically, the agreements on financing the European 
Union’s own resources. 

IV.2 – Financial Instruments  

These are the commitments relating to derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps (see 
Standard 11 on financial debt and derivative financial instruments). 
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STANDARD 1 – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

INTRODUCTION 

This Standard sets out the structure and form for financial statements using business accounting as a 
model, with due consideration for the specific features of the Central Government.  

I – THE RATIONALE FOR DRAWING UP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The financial statements are one of the main sources of facts and figures on the Central Government’s 
financial situation. They are summary documents that enable us to assess and analyse changes in the 
situation and measure costs. 

I.1 – Central Government Balance Sheet: the Statement of Net Assets/Equity 

The Central Government balance sheet is presented as a statement of net assets/equity. Like an ordinary 
business balance sheet, it presents the assets and liabilities that have been identified and recognized in 
the financial statements. The statement of net assets/equity is presented as a list. It is drawn up at the 
reporting date. 

The items in the statement of net assets/equity are: 

- Assets, which are a list of the balance sheet items with a positive economic value for the Central 
Government. The list primarily includes fixed assets, current assets and deferred expenses for the 
financial year. 

- Liabilities, which are obligations towards other parties at the reporting date which, at the date the 
accounts are finalised, will probably or certainly give rise to an outflow of resources necessary to 
settle the obligations towards the other parties. Liabilities include provisions for risks and liabilities, 
financial debts, non-financial debts, other liabilities, and deferred revenue for the financial year.  

In addition, the statement of net assets/equity has two specific features: 

- It shows separate “cash” items on both the assets and liabilities sides. 

- It shows “net assets/equity” as a line item that cannot be compared to the shareholders’ equity in a 
business since there is no initial capital amount or anything equivalent to it. 

I.2 – The Central Government Surplus/Deficit Statement: a Net Expenses Statement, a Net Sovereign 
Revenues Statement and a Net Operating Surplus/Deficit Statement for the Period 

The usual presentation of the surplus/deficit statement, which includes all expenses and revenues for the 
year, has been broken down into three statements: 

- The net expenses statement breaks down expenses for the year by their nature. It shows the total 
amount of net expenses that are not covered by revenues from corresponding activities during the 
year. 

- The statement of net sovereign revenues broken down by category (taxes and other sovereign 
revenues) shows the revenues arising from the exercise of Central Government’s sovereign powers 
during the year, with no direct equivalent value given in exchange to the other parties. The revenues 
shown in this table are net sovereign revenues after deducting the Central Government’s tax liabilities 
and clearance decisions that cancel the validity of previously recorded tax receivables (tax refunds 
and other receivables cancelled following errors); the European Union’s own resources based upon 
Gross National Income (GNI) and value added tax (VAT) reduce tax revenues and other sovereign 
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revenues, for the purpose of determining the total net sovereign revenues; these contributions are 
actually the own resources of the European Union and cannot be considered expenses; the other own 
resources of the European Union are not recognized in the surplus and deficit statement, because they 
are collected by the Central Government (on behalf of the Union) from identifiable third parties, and 
are considered as transactions for the account of third parties. 

- The net operating surplus/deficit statement for the period, which shows the difference between net 
expenses and net sovereign revenues. 

For cost analysis purposes, the net expenses table lists all of the expenses and revenues to be examined 
when conducting cost analysis. 

I.3 – Cash Flow Statement 

The Central Government’s cash position is made up of assets (balances with banks and cash on hand, 
deposits in transit - inflows minus outflows - other cash and cash equivalents) and liabilities (deposits of 
Treasury correspondents and other authorised persons, other cash items). 

The cash flow statement presents the inflows and outflows relating to these items for the year and 
classifies them by category: 

- cash flows from operating activity, which correspond to receipts and payments linked to transactions 
and intervention (except for investments) and other receipts and payments that can be linked to 
operating activity, such as cash flows corresponding to financial expenses and revenues; 

- cash flows from investment transactions, which correspond to receipts and payments stemming from 
the acquisition and disposal of fixed assets; 

- Cash flows from financing transactions, which correspond to receipts and payments stemming from 
the Central Government’s external financing transactions. 

This Standard classifies cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid as cash flows from 

operating activity. This presentation makes it easier to compare budget accounts and general-purpose 

financial statements. The idea is to link cash flows from operating and investing activities to budget 

transactions and to link cash flows from financing activity to non-budgetary cash transactions. 

The notions of receipts and payments are used in the cash flow statement to distinguish these flows from 
revenues and expenses, since the flows recorded in this statement represent the revenues that the Central 
Government has collected and the expenses that it has paid during the financial year.  

Residual amounts not considered “material” according to the principle set out in the conceptual 
framework may be presented net as “other receipts or payments” in the cash flow statement. 

I.4 – Notes to the Financial Statements 

The notes are an integral part of the financial statements. They provide all of the information needed for 
understanding and interpreting the data in the main financial statements. 

This Standard sets out the principles for drawing up the notes and defines their content. 
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The presentation of the notes is inspired by the presentation used for corporate financial statements. The 
data in the summary statements that are explained further in the notes are numbered to facilitate 
reference to the corresponding comments and tables in the notes. 

Furthermore, the dual system, with cash-based budget accounts and accrual-based financial statements 
(Article 27 or the Constitutional bylaw) means that reconciliation tables are included in the notes to 
identify differences between the two types of accounts. 

II – POSITION WITH REGARD TO OTHER SETS OF STANDARDS 

This Standard is based on the following accounting standards: 

- With regard to the statement of net assets/equity and the cash flow statement, the Standard complies 
with 

the French General Chart of Accounts (French Accounting Regulation Committee Regulation 99-03 
of 29th April 1999 appended to the order of 22nd June 1999, updated by French Accounting 
Regulation Committee Regulation 2000-06 of 7th December 2000), IASB6 International Accounting 
Standards (IAS 1 and IAS 7) and IFAC7 Public Sector Committee Standards (IPSAS 1 and IPSAS 2) as 
well as the order of 22nd June 1999 approving French Accounting Regulation Committee Regulation 
99-02 of 29th April 1999 on the consolidated financial statements of commercial companies and 
public enterprises; 

- With regard to the net expenses statement, the sovereign revenues statement and the net operating 
surplus/deficit statement, the Standard is based on foreign financial statement models that are not 
covered by any of the existing accounting standards mentioned above. 

 

 

                                                 
6 International Accounting Standards Board 
7 International Federation of Accountants 
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REQUIREMENTS  

 

The financial statements shall include: 
- the balance sheet in the form of a statement of net assets/equity; 
- the surplus/deficit statement presented in three parts: a net expenses statement, a net sovereign 

revenues statement and a net operating surplus/deficit statement for the period; 
- the cash flow statement; 
- the notes to the financial statements. 

The financial statements provide comparative figures over a three-year period.  

The financial statements for the years ended December 31st 2006 and 2007 include restated comparative 
data for the year ended December 31st 2005, unless the change in the accounting standard makes it 
impracticable or the costs of obtaining the information are considered disproportionate to its usefulness.  

Where the comparative data for 2005 cannot be presented: 

- the reasons explaining their unavailability are disclosed; 

- when the comparative data are not presented, any additional comparative information helpful to users is 
disclosed in the notes. 
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1. STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS/EQUITY  

 YYEEAARR  NN YYEEAARR  NN--11 YYEEAARR  NN--22  

FIXED ASSETS 
Intangible assets 
Tangible assets 
Financial assets 

Total fixed assets 
CURRENT ASSETS (excluding cash) 
Inventories 
Receivables 
Taxpayers 
Customers 
Other receivables 
Prepaid expenses 

Total current assets (excluding cash) 
CASH 
Balances with banks and cash on hand 
Deposits in transit 
Other cash items 
Cash equivalents 

Total cash 
 

Deferred expenses 

Gross 

 
Depreciation 

Impairment losses 

 

Net Net 

 
Net 

TOTAL ASSETS (I)  
     

FINANCIAL DEBTS  
Negotiable securities 
Non-negotiable securities 
Financial debts and Other borrowing 

Total financial debt 
NON FINANCIAL DEBT (excluding cash) 
Operating debt 
Intervention debt 
Prepaid revenues 
Other non-financial debt 

Total non-financial debt 
PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND LIABILITIES  
Provisions for risks 
Provisions for liabilities 

Total provisions for risks and liabilities 
OTHER LIABILITIES (excluding cash)  

Total other liabilities 
CASH 
Treasury correspondents and authorised persons 
Others 

Total cash 

 
Deferred revenue 

     

TOTAL LIABILITIES (excluding net assets/equity) (II )      

Accumulated surplus/deficit brought forward 

Revaluation and integration differences 

Operating surplus/deficit for the period 

     

 

NET ASSETS/EQUITY (III=I-II)  
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2. NET EXPENSES STATEMENT, NET SOVEREIGN REVENUES STATEMENT AND NET 
OPERATING SURPLUS/DEFICIT STATEMENT FOR THE PERIOD  

NNEETT  EEXXPPEENNSSEESS  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTT YYEEAARR  NN YYEEAARR  NN--11 YYEEAARR  NN--22  

 
Staff costs 
Purchases, changes in inventories and external services 
Allocations for depreciation, provisions and impairment losses 
Other operating expenses 
 

  

 
 

 

Total direct operating expenses (I) 
 

   

Subsidies for public service expenses 
Other indirect operating expenses 
 

  
 

 

Total indirect operating expenses (II) 
 

   
 

Total operating expenses (III=I+II) 
 

   

Sales of goods and services 
Increase in inventories of finished goods and work in progress and 
capitalised production 
Reversals of provisions and impairment losses  
Other operating revenues 
 

  

 

N
E

T
 

O
P

E
R

A
T

IN
G

 E
X

P
E

N
S

E
S
 

 

Total operating revenues (IV) 
 

   

 

TOTAL NET OPERATING EXPENSES (V=III-IV) 
 

  
 

Transfers to households  
Transfers to businesses 
Transfers to local authorities 
Transfers to other entities 
Expenses arising from government guarantees 
Allocations to provisions and impairment losses 
 

  

 

 

Total intervention expenses (VI) 
 

   

 
Contributions from third parties  
Reversals of provisions and impairment losses 
 

  

 

N
E

T
  

IN
T

E
R

V
E

N
T

IO
N

 E
X

P
E

N
S

E
S

 

 

Total intervention revenues (VII) 
 

   
 

TOTAL NET INTERVENTION EXPENSES (VIII=VI-VII)  
 

  
 

Interest 
Exchange rate losses on financial transactions 
Allocations to depreciation, provisions and impairment losses 
Other financial expenses 
 

  

 

 

Total financial expenses (IX) 
 

  
 

Revenue from financial assets  
Exchange rate gains on financial transactions 
Reversals of provisions and impairment losses 
Other interest and similar revenues 
 

  

 

N
E

T
 

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L 
E

X
P

E
N

S
E

S
 

 

Total financial revenues (X) 
 

  
 

 

TOTAL NET FINANCIAL EXPENSES (XI=IX-X)  
 

  
 

 

TOTAL NET EXPENSES (XII=V+VIII+XI) 
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NNEETT  SSOOVVEERREEII GGNN  RREEVVEENNUUEESS  SSTTAATTEEMM EENNTT   
 

YYEEAARR  NN YYEEAARR  NN--11 YYEEAARR  NN--22  

 
Personal income tax 
Corporate income tax 
Oil tax 
Value added tax 
Stamp duties, other contributions and indirect taxes 
Other tax and similar revenues 
 

   

 
TOTAL NET TAX REVENUES (XIII) 
 

   

Fines and other penalties 

   

 
TOTAL OTHER SOVEREIGN REVENUES (XIV) 
 

   

Own resources of the European Union based upon Gross National Income 
Own resources of the European Union based on Value Added Tax 

   

TOTAL  OWN RESOURCES OF THE EUROPEAN UNION BASED ON GROSS NATIONAL 

INCOME AND VALUE ADDED TAX (XV)  
   

 
TOTAL NET SOVEREIGN REVENUES (XVI  = XIII+XIV-XV)  
 

   

 

 

 

NET OPERATING SURPLUS/DEFICIT STATEMENT FOR THE 

PERIOD  
YYEEAARR  NN YYEEAARR  NN--11 YYEEAARR  NN--22  

 
Net operating expenses (V) 
Net intervention expenses (VIII) 
Net financial expenses (XI) 
 

   

NET EXPENSES (XII) 
   

 
Net tax revenues (XIII) 
Other net sovereign revenues (XIV) 
Total own resources of the European Union based on Gross National Income 
and Value Added Tax (XV) 
 
 

   

NET SOVEREIGN REVENUES (XVI) 
   

 
OPERATING  SURPLUS/DEFICIT  FOR THE  PERIOD (XVI-XII) 
 

   



 
 
 
 

 
39 

 

3. CASH FLOW STATEMENT  

 

CCAASSHH   FFLL OOWW   SSTTAATTEEMM EENNTT  
 

YYEEAARR  NN YYEEAARR  NN--11 YYEEAARR  NN--22  

RECEIPTS 
Receipts from sales of goods and services 
Other operating receipts 
Receipts from taxes 
Other sovereign receipts 
Intervention receipts 
Receipts from interest and dividends 
Other receipts 

 
PAYMENTS  
Staff expenditures 
Purchases and external services expenditures 
Tax refund expenditures 
Other operating expenditures 
Indirect operating expenses  
Intervention expenditures 
Payments arising from government guarantees 
Interest paid 
Other payments 

   

C
A

S
H

 F
L

O
W

S
 

F
R

O
M

 O
P

E
R

A
T

IN
G

 A
C

T
IV

IT
Y

 

 

 
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITY (I) 
 

   

ACQUISITIONS OF FIXED ASSETS  
Tangible and intangible assets 
Financial assets 

FIXED ASSET DISPOSALS  
Tangible and intangible assets 
Financial assets 

   

C
A

S
H

 F
L

O
W

S
 F

R
O

M
 

IN
V

E
S

T
IN

G
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
 

 
NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY (II) 
 

   

DEBT SECURITIES ISSUANCE 
Treasury bonds (OAT) 
Treasury notes (BTAN) 
Treasury bills (BTF) 

REDEMPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES (EXCLUDING BTF) 
Negotiable securities 

Treasury bonds (OAT) 
Treasury notes (BTAN) 

Non-negotiable debt securities 
CASH FLOWS FROM DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

   

C
A

S
H

 F
L

O
W

S
 F

R
O

M
 F

IN
A

N
C

IN
G

 

A
C

T
IV

IT
Y

 

 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY (III) 
 

   

 
CHANGE IN CASH POSITION (IV=I+II+III=VI-V) 
 

   

 
CASH POSITION AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD (V) 
 

   

 
CASH POSITION AT END OF PERIOD (VI) 
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4. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

The notes form an integral part of the financial statements. They cannot be a substitute for the summary 
statements that they supplement and explain. They are subject to the same audit requirements as the other 
summary statements. 

4.1 PRINCIPLES FOR DRAWING UP THE NOTES 

The information in the notes must: 

- contribute to providing a true and fair view of the net worth, financial position, surplus/deficit of the 
Central Government with details that explain or clarify the content of certain items in the summary 
statements; 

- provide all the material information that is likely to influence the decisions of users. For this purpose, 
the notion of a materiality threshold for information may be a determining factor in disclosure choices. 
The threshold shall be set according to the materiality of information for users of the financial 
statements. Information is deemed to be material if failure to disclose it could change the users’ 
judgment with regard to the Central Government’s net worth and financial position. 

4.2 CONTENTS OF THE NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

The notes shall be an organised and systematic presentation of facts and figures. They must present: 

- the measurement rules and methods, along with any changes in measurement methods or in the 
presentation of the financial statements. 

- information with details about the amounts shown in the statement of net assets/equity, the net 
expenses statement, the net sovereign revenues statement and the cash flow statement. The detailed 
information shall cover: 

� changes in assets and liabilities over the period; 

� details of tangible, intangible and financial assets, staff costs, etc.; 

� information about the calculation of provisions for risks and liabilities, the breakdown of these 
provisions by categories and their maturities, etc.; 

� information about the Central Government work force; 

� the reconciliation of gross sovereign revenues to the revenues recorded in the net sovereign 
revenues statement; 

- information that is not presented in the summary financial statements but requires disclosure in the 
notes, including:  ,  

� commitments broken down into four categories: commitments given under the terms of 
agreements, commitments relating to Central Government’s role as economic and social 
regulator, commitments invoking the Central Government’s liability and pension 
commitments. A summary of the Central Government’s commitments is presented in the 
notes. 

� impairment losses on receivables collected by the Central Government on behalf of other 
parties where the government does not bear the risk of non-payment; 

- information on the linkage of accrual-based general-purpose financial statements to cash-based budget 
accounts; 

- information on the present value of the funding requirement for the civil service pension scheme 
which is measured by the difference between the present value of the pensions to be paid and the 
present value of the contributions to be collected. The assessment is calculated on the basis of the 
timing of funding requirements. The calculation method, the assumptions and the scope are disclosed 
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to support the valuation. Every change in accounting method shall be disclosed. A note explaining 
changes in the amounts is also provided; 

- the total amount of the own resources of the European Union affecting the net surplus/deficit; 

- a table showing the variations of the tax base of tax losses carried forward and a table showing the tax 
amount of changes in non-refundable tax credits carried forward. An assessment of the tax effect of 
the expected utilisation of tax losses and non-refundable tax credits carried forward must be produced. 
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EXAMPLES 

The tables and the comments presented below are intended to illustrate the requirements relating to the 
notes to the financial statements. These tables are illustrative only.  

I  – TANGIBLE  ASSETS 

Tangible assets by category and by ministry (Categories are illustrative and not comprehensive) 

  
Non-specialised  

land 
Non-specialised  

buildings Equipment Infrastructures Specialised  
buildings 

Year N N-1 N N-1 N N-1 N N-1 N N-1 

Opening balance  Market  
value  

Market  
value  

acquisition 
 cost > x euros  

Present  
replacement cost  

Token euro or 
replacement cost   

Acquisitions                 If cost  
is known    

Capital work  
in progress     

    
    

        

Disposals                     

Depreciation       depreciation       work in  
progress   

Revaluations (+) or (–) annual 
revaluation   

annual  
revaluation      annual  

revaluation 
      

Impairment         
Impairment test  
if evidence of 
impairment  

    
    

Closing balance                     

  

Accumulated 
revaluation surplus (+) 

        
    

    
    

Accumulated 
revaluation deficit (–) 

                
    

  

Gross carrying  
amount  

                    

Accumulated 
depreciation 

                  work in 
progress 

Net carrying amount 
= Closing balance 

                    

Commentary: 

Opening balance + (acquisitions – disposals (accumulated)) + accumulated revaluation surplus and deficit 
= gross carrying amount. Net carrying amount is carried forward each year as the opening balance for the 
next year. 
Opening balance + acquisitions + work in progress – disposals – depreciation + or – revaluation 
differences – impairment = closing balance = net carrying amount = gross carrying amount – accumulated 
depreciation. 
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Leases by category and by ministry (Categories are illustrative and not comprehensive) 

FINANCE LEASES Land Non-specialised  
buildings Equipment 

  N N-1 N N-1 N N-1 

Finance leases  
(Net Carrying Amount  

on reporting date) 
            

Total minimum 
lease payments 

 for leases up to 1 year 
            

Present value             

Total minimum  
lease payments  

for lease between 1 and 5 years 
            

Present value             

Total minimum  
lease payments  

for lease of 5 years or more 
            

Present value             

II  – PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND LIABILITIES  

Reversals 
during the year Provisions for risks Opening 

amounts 
Allocations for 

the year 
Reversal of used provisions Reversals of unused 

provisions 

Closing 
amounts 

Provisions for risks 1      

Provisions for risks 2      

…      

Total      

Reversals 
during the year Provisions for liabilities Opening 

amounts 
Allocations for 

the year 
Reversal of used provisions Reversals of unused 

provisions 

Closing 
amounts 

Provisions for liabilities 1      

Provisions for liabilities 2      

…      

Total 
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III  – DEBT 

Statement of changes in borrowing 

 Opening amount Increases Decreases Closing amount 

Negotiable euro-denominated debt 
    

Fixed-rate debt 
    

Variable-rate debt 
    

Negotiable debt denominated in 
foreign currencies 

    

Fixed-rate debt 
    

Variable-rate debt 
    

Non-negotiable debt 
    

… 
    

Total 
    

Increases 

Issuance Conversion 
swaps 

Index-
linking 

differential 
Interest Totals 

 

With 
receipt of 

funds 

Without 
receipt of 

funds 

  
Capitalisation Accrued 

interest 
Prepaid 
interest 

 

Negotiable euro-
denominated debt 

        

Fixed-rate debt 
        

Variable-rate debt 
        

Negotiable debt 
denominated in foreign 
currencies 

        

Fixed-rate debt 
        

Variable-rate debt 
        

Non-negotiable debt 
        

…         

Totals 
        

Including expenses arising from index-linking of bonds      
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Decreases 

Interest  

Redemptions 

Cancel-
lation of 
issued 

securities 
without 

receipt of 
funds 

Buybacks 
Conversion 

swaps 

 
Index-linking 
differential 

Capitalisation Accrued 
interest 

Prepaid 
interest 

Totals 

Negotiable euro-
denominated debt 

         

Fixed-rate debt 
         

Variable-rate debt 
         

Negotiable debt 
denominated in foreign 
currencies 

         

Fixed-rate debt 
         

Variable-rate debt 
         

Non-negotiable debt 
         

… 
         

Totals 
         

Statement of changes in the item Premium and Discount  

 
Opening amount 

Increases 
(at issue) Decreases Closing amount 

Premiums 
    

Discounts     

Total 
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Maturity Table  

Maturities  

More than Items Amounts Less than  

1 year 1 year 5 years 

Negotiable euro-denominated debt     

Fixed-rate debt     

Variable-rate debt     

Negotiable debt denominated in foreign 
currencies 

    

Fixed-rate debt     

Variable-rate debt     

Non-negotiable debt     

     

Total 
    

IV  – STAFF COSTS 

 
Staff costs 

 

 
 

     Amounts for year N Amounts for year N-1 

Compensation of employees   

Social security charges, retirement contributions and direct 
taxation   

Direct benefits from employer (excluding pensions)   

Pensions   

Other social contributions   
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Conceptual Framework for Central Government Accounting  

 

I – PURPOSE OF THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR CENTRAL  GOVERNMENT 
ACCOUNTING 

Under the provisions of Article 27 of the Constitutional bylaw regarding budget procedures of 1st August 
20018, “the Central Government shall keep accounts of budgetary receipts and expenditures and general 
purpose accounts for all of its transactions. In addition, it shall implement an accounting system designed 
to analyse the cost of the various actions undertaken as part of its programmes.” 

Article 28 stipulates that budgetary receipts and expenditures shall be recognised on a cash basis. 
Therefore, receipts and expenditures are recorded on a cash basis for the financial year, which may be 
extended by an “additional period” of up to twenty days. 

The Standards in this manual apply to the Central Government’s general-purpose financial statements. 
Article 30 stipulates that these financial statements are based on the accrual accounting principle. 
Transactions are recognized in the financial year to which they are related, independently of the date of 
payment or receipt. The same principle is found in the legislation governing business financial statements. 

Consequently, the Constitutional bylaw stipulates that the accounting rules for the Central Government 
are the same as those for business, except when differences are warranted by the specific nature of the 
Central Government’s activity. 

All of the rules and standards for applying accrual accounting principles to the central government should 
therefore be elaborated with reference to the provisions applying to business. This means that we have to 
determine which business accounting rules are directly applicable to Central Government, which rules 
need to be adapted to specific features of its activities and which rules need to be created to account for 
transactions that are not covered by business accounting standards. 

The scale and the specific nature of certain Central Government transactions mean that the new rules 
should be explained and put into perspective by preliminary remarks on the scope, purpose and 
limitations of such accounting. These matters are covered in this conceptual framework, which serves 
three purposes: 

- It presents the assumptions underlying the accounting standards that apply to the Central Government. 

- It defines the main concepts derived from these assumptions. 

- It explains the scope and the limitations of the financial information provided by the accounts. 

The conceptual framework is not a rule-making standard. Its purpose is to provide helpful material for 
understanding and interpreting the rules. It is aimed at the rule-makers, the accountants responsible for 
keeping and drawing up the accounts, the auditors responsible for certifying them and the users of 
financial information thus produced. 

It provides a conceptual benchmark for rule-makers to ensure the consistency of various rules and 
standards. 

                                                 
8 Constitutional bylaw 2001-692 of 1 August 2001 on the budget. Hereinafter referred to as the “Constitutional bylaw”. 
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It helps accountants and auditors understand and interpret the rules. Interpretation may be necessary to 
deal with special cases or new transactions that are not adequately covered by the existing rules. The 
conceptual framework may also help with the definition and technical organisation of accounting systems 
by explaining the ultimate purpose of such systems. It will also give those who use accounting 
information a better understanding of its scope and limitations. 

This information is intended primarily for citizens and their representatives. Accounting information must 
naturally meet the needs of those responsible for conducting and managing the Central Government’s 
tasks and activities. The information is also intended for international public institutions, capital markets 
and investors in debt securities. 

The variety of people using the information requires it to be wide-ranging and comprehensive, 
encompassing all elements that have an impact on the financial situation. 

Even though there are several sets of accounting standards for business, none is specifically stipulated by 
law. The basic options presented in this framework are consistent with the common core concepts found 
in the main standards. The corpus of Central Government Accounting Standards constitutes a complete 
and consistent system. 

Furthermore, France’s accounting reform should be conducted in line with the work on international 
standards in which France is an active participant. 

Therefore, this conceptual framework has been designed with special reference to the following three sets 
of standards: 

- The French Chart of Accounts and the Accounting Regulation Committee regulations in force in 
France, 

- The Standards being developed by the IFAC Public Sector Committee, 

- The IASB Standards 

These three sets of standards are, moreover, now converging. 

Some original solutions may be required because of the specific features of France’s Central Government, 
but they must in all cases be justified and consistent with the conceptual framework. 

II – PURPOSE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Under business accounting standards, the purpose of financial statements is generally to provide a true 
and fair view of the assets and liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of an enterprise. The 
concepts used in legislation on business financial statements need to be explained in the case of the 
Central Government. More fundamentally, the Constitutional bylaw starts by establishing a major 
difference from business accounting, since Article 27 stipulates that the “Central Government’s financial 
statements must be compliant and faithfully present a true and fair view of its net worth and its financial 
position”, with no reference to profit or loss.  

II.1 – Net Worth, Financial Position, Net Assets/Equity, Commitments 

Net worth is usually defined as the combined rights and obligations pertaining to a person. 

The financial position is the financial and accounting representation of the notion of net worth. 
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To present a true and fair view of net worth and financial position, the scope of these rights and 
obligations needs to be defined. They need to be identified, measured and accounted for using the 
classification of assets and liabilities. 

In the case of the Central Government, these operations call for due consideration of the following: 

- The extreme diversity and numbers of Central Government rights and obligations mean that we only 
retain those elements that have a significant impact on its financial position, meaning an increase, a 
decrease or a change in the structure of the financial position.  

- There is no initial capital amount, since there is no initial start date and no opening balance sheet was 
prepared.  

- Measurement of assets with a long economic life raises special problems. 

- The very notion of asset, as used in business accounting, does not adequately account for the Central 
Government’s circumstances, which include the very special “intangible asset” of sovereignty, and its 
corollary, the right to levy taxes. 

- Sovereignty also has a major consequence with regard to the notion of liability, which sometimes 
requires original solutions for the Central Government that go beyond the recording of conventional 
liabilities, like those of businesses. 

All in all, comparison of the Central Government’s assets and liabilities is essential for the consistency 
and accuracy of accounting records over time and for an analysis of the Central Government’s financial 
position. But, even though it may be consistent with the major principles (especially accrual accounting), 
this comparison cannot be interpreted in the same way as a comparison of business assets and liabilities. 

To underline this difference, the financial statements are still presented with a balance sheet in the form of 
a statement of net assets/equity. 

The role of “insurer of last resort”, which the Central Government often has to play, also requires a 
precise definition of the limits on the types of off-balance sheet commitments to be disclosed in the notes 
to the financial statements. 

II.2 – Profit or Loss, Performance 

Article 27 of the Constitutional bylaw does not mention profit or loss. This particularity stems from 
problems with accrual accounting of expenses and revenues in the case of the Central Government. 

In business, the commonest accounting measurement of profit or loss is based on an accrual principle that 
makes it possible to match expenses to revenues. In the case of the Central Government, revenues are not, 
on the whole, related to the sale of goods and services produced as a result of the activity that gave rise to 
the expenses. Revenues are generally unrelated to expenses and they are not as a matter of principle 
allocated to cover given expenses. 

In business accounting, accrued expenses and revenues can be matched in two stages. We can start by 
recording the accrued expenses relating to the resources consumed during the accounting period. These 
expenses enable us to measure the enterprise’s production during the accounting period. Then, in order to 
calculate the profit or loss, we need to include the expenses related to production that were added to 
inventory in previous periods and sold during the period under consideration. We also need to deduct 
expenses incurred during the period that relate to production included in year-end inventories. 

The first type of accruals can be transposed to the Central Government’s financial statements, at least in 
the case of expenses related to resources consumed. Such a transposition is critical if we want to break 
down costs by programmes or by other categories. We can also establish rules that require expenses 
relating to government transfers to be recorded in the financial statements for the year in which the 
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relevant obligations arise. However, we cannot transpose the accrual principle matching expenses to 
revenues for the reasons already mentioned. 

Therefore, we cannot interpret the level of profit or loss as we would in the case of a business enterprise. 
But, as long as the rules for recognising expenses and revenues have been established and are applied in 
accordance with the principle of consistency of methods, the variations in the surplus or deficit over the 
years can provide important information about the impact of fiscal policies. 

II.3 – Links to the Budget, Relationship to Management and Targets, Links to National Accounts 

The budget is drawn up and passed as an authorisation act. The authorisation for expenditures covers both 
commitments and payments. Execution of the budget authorisation therefore requires accounting systems 
for recording commitments and for recording payments. The latter accounting system is explicitly 
provided for under the terms of Article 27 of the Constitutional bylaw. 

The linkage between the budget accounting system and the general purpose accounting system is an 
important objective. General-purpose financial statements should provide helpful information for drawing 
up the budget and understanding its execution. 

The principle adopted is that the different systems need to be integrated in conceptual terms and that their 
architecture needs to be consistent so that linkage is possible between the various systems for monitoring 
budget execution. Even though the budget rules need to stand alone and follow their own logic, there 
should be simple links between budget accounts, which the Constitutional bylaw defines as the records of 
receipts and payments, and the accounting records that provide information for the general purpose 
financial statements for the year. 

Finally, compliance with the commitments made under the Growth and Stability Pact is measured on the 
basis of the national accounts. The system of national accounts has its own rules warranted by the special 
constraints that such accounts must meet. However, the general principles underlying the system refer 
explicitly to accrual accounting and the main notions are the same. Therefore, the intelligibility and 
credibility of the central government’s financial statements hinge on their being consistent with the 
national accounts data. 

This consistency needs to be achieved on the conceptual level and on the quantitative level. This means 
that the accounting concepts and rules that are supposed to be the same under both systems must use 
exactly the same definitions and produce the same results. It also means that differences between notions 
and rules need to be identified and explained. Furthermore, any differences in the annual results need to 
be explained, measured and presented in a reconciliation table. 

The diagram below shows the main differences in concepts between the surplus or deficit for the period 
determined on the basis of the general purpose financial statements, the budget outturn determined using 
the budget accounts and the net borrowing or net lending calculated according to the national accounts.  

II.4 – Measuring Costs and Performance 

Accrual accounting is a fundamental element of the accounting system for analysing the costs of actions 
as required under the terms of Article 27 of the Constitutional bylaw. The general concepts are defined in 
the same way in the different accounting systems so that meaningful comparisons can be made between 
management units. The notion of full cost needs to be defined in terms of accrual accounting concepts. 
This requirement does not mean that managers necessarily have to track full costs. It only means that the 
costs tracked at one level or another, or in one management unit or another (which may vary in nature), 
should be comparable with regard to this common notion. 

This way, the matching of expenses to the revenues arising from the activities of different departments or 
representing the participation of other entities in carrying out certain operations, helps to calculate the net 
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costs. These costs may be compared to non-monetary indicators relating to the quality of the services 
provided or some other characteristics, or else they may be used to set targets. The comparison of costs, 
targets and results provides helpful information about management performance. 



The Main Conceptual Differences between the Annual Surplus/Deficit, Budget Outturn and Net Borrowing or Lending 
 

 

 

 
GENERAL PURPOSE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
BUDGET ACCOUNTS 

 
Budget outturn 

 
NATIONAL ACCOUNTS 

 
Net borrowing or lending 

+ Carrying amount of asset disposals 
+/– Depreciation, provisions, impairment losses and 

reversals 
+/– Capitalised non-financial transactions (e.g. 

investments, capital endowments)  

+/– Accruals 
+/– Budget transactions accounted for as financial 

transactions (e.g. loans) 
+/– Non-budget transactions with an impact on the 

borrowing requirement (e.g. transactions related 
to accounting treatment of debt) 

– Accrued income 
+ Accrued expenditure 
+/– Capitalised budget transactions (e.g. 

investments, capital endowments, loans) 
+/– Depreciation, provisions, impairment losses and 

reversals 
+ Carrying amount of asset disposals 
+/– Transactions related to accounting treatment of 



 
 
 
 

 
54 

 

II.5 – Presentation and Interpretation of Financial Statements 

In view of the preceding remarks, the financial statements presented are the following: 

- A balance sheet in the form of a statement of net assets/equity; 

- A surplus/deficit statement presented in three parts: a net expenses statement, a net sovereign revenues 
statement and a net operating surplus or deficit statement for the period; 

- A cash flow statement that distinguishes between flows from operating activity, investing activity and 
financing activity 

Notes to the financial statements present all of the information needed to understand and interpret the data 
in the latter with schedules providing the breakdown of certain items in the main financial statements. 

The preceding discussion about the meaning of net assets/equity and surplus/deficit shows that 
interpretation of the financial statements calls for a degree of prudence, particularly when it comes to 
analysing solvency. However, these limitations have no bearing on the usefulness of these data.  

They can be used to measure costs, which is critical for an objective approach to justifying budget 
appropriations, management choices and performance assessments. 

Determining liabilities, even though the very nature of Central Government responsibilities makes such a 
definition difficult, provides important information about the sustainability of fiscal policies, especially 
when this information is backed up by data on off-balance sheet commitments in the notes to the financial 
statements. 

The system makes it possible to track changes in the value of assets, particularly the value of tangible 
assets and financial assets. This provides information about how well the Central Government manages 
such assets in a limited, but important, area. 

Tracking tax revenues on another basis than cash receipts enables us to assess the efficiency of the system 
better and provides key resources for improving management and forecasts. 

III - GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF CENTRAL GOVERNMENT  ACCOUNTING 

III.1 - Accounting Principles 

Article 27 of the Constitutional bylaw mentions the principles of compliance, faithful representation and a 
true and fair view, which are generally recognised as accounting principles, even if the true and fair view 
is sometimes considered to be more of an objective than a principle. 

Beyond the terms of this article, all generally accepted accounting principles should apply to the Central 
Government. The list of principles below is not necessarily exhaustive. It covers the principles that seem 
to be common to all of the business accounting standards. The fact that a principle is not mentioned does 
not mean that it is not deemed to apply to the Central Government. 

Compliance 

This principle states that the financial statements shall comply with applicable rules and procedures. 
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Faithful Representation 

This principle states that the rules and procedures in force are applied so as to provide a faithful 
representation of the knowledge that those responsible for drawing up the financial statements have of the 
substance and materiality of the events recorded in the statements. 

True and Fair View 

The true and fair view is not defined directly. French and European legislation stipulates that when 
application of an accounting rule is not enough to provide a true and fair view, further information should 
be provided in the notes to the financial statements. Furthermore, under exceptional circumstances, if the 
application of a rule does not provide a true and fair view, there should be a departure from the rule. Such 
departures must be mentioned and explained in the notes with information about their impact on the 
financial statements. 

Accrual Basis 

This principle is linked to the very concept of the accounting period, which is normally one year. The 
accrual accounting principle calls for recognition of expenses and revenues only in the accounting period 
to which they actually relate. 

Going Concern Basis 

This principle states that the Central Government shall continue to carry out its activities in the 
foreseeable future. All assets are valued on a going concern basis. 

Consistency of Methods 

The consistency of accounting information over successive years requires consistency in accounting rules 
and procedures. This is necessary for comparing years, measuring trends and analysing performance. 
Changes in accounting conventions and methods should only occur if they help financial statements 
present a truer and fairer view. Any changes with a significant impact on the statements must be 
explained in the notes to the financial statements. 

Information Quality 

This principle states that the accounting system must meet the following qualitative criteria: 

- Understandability: 

The information provided in the financial statements must be immediately understandable for users 
who are assumed to have a reasonable knowledge of accounting. This does not rule out information 
about complex subjects, which has to be included in the financial statements because it is relevant for 
decision-making purposes. 

- Relevance: 

Information is relevant when it is connected to the data being analysed and when it enables users to 
make better assessments of past, present and future events. 

The relevance of information is influenced by its nature and its materiality: 

� in certain cases, the nature of the information is enough on its own to make the information 
relevant and useful for assessing the risks and opportunities facing the entity. But, in other cases, 
we need to assess both the nature and the materiality of information. 
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� materiality describes the value of the information contained in the financial statements for 
decision-makers. A piece of information or a combination of information is deemed to be material 
if its omission, non-disclosure or misrepresentation can have an influence on the decisions made by 
users. 

- Reliability: 

Reliable information is free from material error and bias. It represents faithfully what it purports to 
represent or could reasonably be expected to represent. 

To be reliable, information must meet other criteria: 

� it must provide a faithful representation of the transactions and other events it purports to represent. 

� it needs to be neutral, meaning free from bias. 

� it needs to be prudent, with a reasonable assessment of the situation so that assets and revenues are 
not overstated and liabilities and expenses are not understated. 

� the information needs to be complete. 

III.2 – The Scope, the Coverage of Financial Statements and Net Worth 

Separate Financial Statements 

The definition of the scope of the accounts is linked to the existence of a legal entity, even though this 
criterion cannot apply to all cases. The definition of the scope of the Central Government’s financial 
statements also needs to be based on this approach. This scope encompasses all of the Central 
Government departments, establishments and institutions that are not incorporated as separate legal 
entities. On the whole, this corresponds to the entities and departments where the operating resources are 
authorised and described in the Budget Act, including special accounts and specific budgets. It does not 
include public establishments and similar bodies that are incorporated as separate legal entities. 

Consequently, all of the transactions carried out by the entities falling within the scope of the Central 
Government’s financial statements (including such entities as public authorities and independent 
administrative authorities) that create or change rights and obligations must be integrated into the Central 
Government’s general-purpose financial statements in compliance with the specific rules of these 
statements, even when these entities receive block budget appropriations and draw up and publish specific 
purpose financial statements. In practice, there is no reason why these specific accounting systems cannot 
be used in compiling the general-purpose financial statements, as long as they apply the same principles 
or the necessary restatements can otherwise be made. 

The financial statements produced by the entities falling within the scope of the Central Government’s 
financial statements are referred to as the “separate financial statements” of the Central Government. The 
following Standards set out the procedures for drawing up these statements, which are the key building 
blocks for all further developments. The production of these financial statements represents a decisive 
improvement over the current situation. 

Consolidated or Combined Financial Statements 

The scope defined above means that the Central Government’s financial statements record all of the 
transactions affecting the assets and liabilities attributed to the entities falling within the scope, along with 
the expenses and revenues relating to these entities. However, the Central Government has the power to 
direct the activities of other entities that are incorporated as separate legal entities under the terms of 
various provisions. This power may stem from ownership of controlling interests in companies or from 
the fact that the Central Government owns national public establishments, or else from the fact that it 
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provides most of the financing for entities incorporated as private sector companies to carry out tasks 
assigned and supervised by the government.  

In all of these cases, the government makes indirect use of these entities’ resources to implement its 
policies and it indirectly bears the de jure and/or de facto responsibility for their obligations. In the 
Central Government’s separate financial statements, these entities are treated as equity investments. But 
these statements provide only a highly aggregated view of all the rights and obligations. For a more 
comprehensive view, consolidated and/or combined financial statements need to be produced. 

Defining the scope of consolidation and combination in the case of the Central Government raises many 
questions because of the special rules under public law or administrative law and because the government 
has the power (subject to constitutional limits) to change the rules. The notions of control and joint 
interest used to define the scope need to be defined carefully to distinguish them from the government’s 
power to change the very framework within which it deals with other agents. 

This is particularly important when examining the situation in terms of obligations rather than rights. The 
corollary of this power is, in a sense, the government’s role as the “last resort” source of funds. This 
means its political and social obligation to cover unforeseen expenses through stopgap measures or on a 
more permanent basis as events that are not related to the Central Government’s ordinary activities occur. 

Even though the definition of control that is generally used in consolidation rules can be applied in the 
case of the Central Government, it needs to be clarified carefully with regard to this characteristic. The 
concepts of joint interest and close relationships also require clarification to define the scope of 
combination in addition to consolidation. 

These issues do not fall within the purpose of this framework, which is intended to set the standards 
required for drawing up separate financial statements. However, there are two reasons for mentioning 
them here. 

First, the production of consolidated financial statements is an important objective in the medium term, 
which calls for the definition of adequate standards. 

And, secondly, the standard on recognising equity investments in the separate financial statements needs 
to define its scope in a way that is consistent with this approach so as to provide aggregated, but relevant 
information on the relationships between the Central Government and related entities. 

III.3 - The Main Concepts 

Assets 

An asset is a balance sheet item that has a positive economic value for the Central Government, meaning 
that it is a resource controlled by the government that is expected to produce economic benefits in the 
future. The future economic benefits for the government mean either cash flows accruing to the 
government from the use of the asset or the possible production of services expected from the use of the 
asset for the benefit of the government or others in keeping with its tasks or purpose. 

In the Central Government’s separate financial statements, the control over the resource is to be 
understood as direct control, meaning direct control of the asset by entities within the Central 
Government structure. Therefore, assets controlled by entities that are incorporated as separate legal 
entities under the control of the Central Government are not tracked as such in the Central Government’s 
separate financial statements. 
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Liabilities 

A liability is an obligation towards another party at the reporting date, which, at the date the accounts are 
finalised, will probably or certainly give rise to an outflow of resources necessary to settle the obligation 
towards the other party. 

Certain transactions do not meet the definition of a liability but represent commitments that require 
disclosure in the notes. They include: 

- a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the Central Government; or 

- a Central Government obligation towards another party where it is not probable or certain that the 
obligation will give rise to an outflow of resources.  

Net Assets/Equity 

Net assets/equity is the net difference between assets and liabilities. 

Deferral Accounts 

Deferral accounts are used for the periodic allocation of expense and revenue, to ensure that the expense 
and revenue that effectively relate to each period, and only that expense and revenue, are recognized in 
that period. 

Expense 

An expense is a decrease in assets or an increase in liabilities that is not directly offset by the entry of a 
new asset or a decrease in liabilities. Expenses correspond either to the consumption of resources in the 
production of goods or services, or to an obligation to make a payment to another party necessary to settle 
the obligation towards that other party. 

Revenue 

Revenue is an increase in assets or a decrease in liabilities that is not offset by the corresponding disposal 
of an asset or an increase in liabilities. In the case of the Central Government, there is a distinction made 
between sovereign revenues and revenues from sales of goods and services, revenues from investments in 
financial assets and revenues from user fees. Sovereign revenues constitute the Central Government’s 
main source of funds. In principle, sovereign revenues are not matched to expenses, unlike other 
revenues, which can usually be matched to expenses. 

Sovereign revenues result from the compulsory levies authorised under applicable legislation. They do 
not result from contractual obligations. They could be seen as revenues derived from intangible assets 
linked to the exercise of sovereign powers (the right to levy taxes and to impose and collect fines), but 
these powers do not meet all of the requirements to be recognised as assets. Thus, the revenues that could 
be linked to them fall into a special category. 

III.4 - Recognition Rules 

The recognition rules set out the procedures for recording transactions and events that affect the net 
assets/equity in the financial statements. These procedures determine the event giving rise to the 
accounting entry and which category it falls into under the accounting classification. 

Recognition Rules for Assets 



 
 
 
 

 
59 

 

Assets are recorded in the financial statements for the year in which the government acquires control over 
the future economic benefits or service potential. Control is usually based on a right (ownership or right 
of use). 

Ownership is not enough to establish control. Thus, when the government transfers control of goods that 
it owns to separate entities, these goods are not recorded in the Central Government’s financial 
statements. Likewise, when the government has long-term use of goods that it does not own, these goods 
are recorded in its financial statements as long as it has control of them. Control of the goods is assessed 
in this case according to the conditions of use: power to decide on use, responsibilities, expenses and risks 
related to this power. 

Assets include fixed assets and current assets. Fixed assets include intangible, tangible and financial 
assets, along with the associated receivables. Current assets include inventories, receivables and cash. 

Intangible assets raise a special accounting problem. This is because no assets representing sovereignty 
are recorded in the financial statements, since it is impossible to identify such assets separately and to 
make an adequate valuation. The distinction made between intangible assets to be recorded in the 
financial statements and assets representing the exercise of sovereign powers is based on an analysis of 
the corresponding revenues. 

Recognition Rules for Liabilities 

Liabilities shall be recognized when the three following cumulative conditions are fulfilled: 

- the Central Government has an obligation towards another party arising during the current or an 
earlier reporting period; 

- it is certain or probable that an outflow of resources will be necessary to settle the obligation towards 
the other party; 

- the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

The existence of an obligation is determined by reference to the requirements of the relevant accounting 
standards. In some case it may also stem from the control of an asset when it is certain or likely that this 
control will entail an outflow of resources for the owner of the asset. In this case, the obligation must be 
considered as a requirement for establishing the existence of control. 

Recognition Rules for Revenues 

Revenues are recorded in the financial statements for the year in which they were acquired. This usually 
corresponds to the delivery of goods or the performance of a service when recording sales revenues. 
Sovereign revenues are recorded when collection is authorised and when the amounts can reliably be 
established. 

We should keep in mind the distinction between sovereign revenues, derived from the exercise of 
sovereign powers even though the corresponding intangible assets are not recorded in the financial 
statements, and the revenues derived from intangible assets that need to be recorded in the financial 
statements. Sovereign revenues are not collected in exchange for the production of goods or services or 
for making specific assets available for use. Other revenues are linked to specific assets and we can come 
up with an accurate valuation for them, even though these revenues are derived from providing assets that 
are in the public domain. 

This means that there are two ways of analysing a new revenue stream that does not correspond to the 
sale of goods or services, intervention revenue or revenue from making a previously recognised asset 
available for use: 
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- Either there is a specific exchange, which is usually set out in a contract, for the party paying the 
revenue. In this case, the revenue is derived from making an asset available for use. If the arrangement 
means that the government is likely or certain to receive revenues in the future, an intangible asset 
needs to be recorded in the financial statements. 

- Or it is impossible to identify such an exchange of goods, services or a right to use an asset. In this 
case, the revenue is a tax or a similar levy and it is recorded as sovereign revenue. 

Recognition Rules for Expenses 

Expenses are recognized in the financial statements for the year in which they were consumed. 

For expenses the general recognition criterion is performance of the service. 

Expenses are recorded and presented in the financial statements by their economic nature, with a further 
breakdown by Ministry, task and programme. 

III.5 – Measurement Rules 

The measurement rules determine the value at which items are initially recognized in the financial 
statements and their subsequent value on each reporting date. 

Measurement on initial recognition and at the reporting date, Usual Case 

The entry cost is based on general rules for businesses. 

The value on the reporting date is determined by comparing the recoverable amount of each asset and 
liability on the reporting date to its initial amount, with such adjustments as necessary for depreciation 
and impairment losses (net carrying amount) and then using the lower of the two values. If the 
recoverable amount is lower than the net carrying amount, then the latter is adjusted to the recoverable 
amount by recording an extra allocation for depreciation, if the loss in value is irreversible, or an 
impairment loss if the loss is considered reversible. 

The recoverable amount is the greater of the net selling price and the value in use. The net selling price is 
the amount that could be obtained on the reporting date for the sale of the asset in an arm’s length 
transaction, less disposal costs. The value in use of an asset is the recoverable amount of the future 
economic benefits expected from its use and its disposal. In the case of public sector assets that do not 
produce cash flows, the value in use is determined with regard to the expected service potential. 

A depreciable asset is an asset for which the conditions of use and useful life can be determined. The 
initial costs for tangible assets such as plant and equipment (vehicles, computers, furniture, etc.) are 
usually known and can easily be established. These assets are depreciated according to their use. 
Depreciation is backed up by suitable impairment tests. 

The depreciation schedule usually calls for a measurement of the future economic benefits or, failing that 
in the case of assets held by public sector entities, the potential volume of services expected from the use 
of the asset. The “depreciation schedule sets out the allocation of the depreciable value of the asset as the 
expected economic benefits are consumed through its expected use”9. Usually, the future economic 
benefits and, by extension, the service potential, are equal to the acquisition cost at the time the asset is 
recognized. 

                                                 
9 Accounting Regulation Committee Regulation 2002-10 of 12 December 2002 on depreciation and write-downs of assets. 
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Impairment tests are conducted to ensure that the net carrying amount at each reporting date is at least 
equal to the residual economic benefits and service potential. These rules should apply to all assets when 
the acquisition cost is known or can be determined and when reliable projections of consumption of the 
economic benefits or service potential can be made. 

Special Cases Involving Certain Tangible and Financial Assets 

Non-specialised Property 

In the case of non-specialised property, the existence of a market value usually depends on whether the 
property can be used for other purposes that are not specific to the central government’s activities. Such 
assets are deemed to be non-specialised if they can be sold to other entities for comparable or different 
uses, subject to limited re-development. This characteristic also makes them impossible to define in terms 
of service potential. In this case, the depreciation schedule can only be drawn up on the basis of a 
generally accepted useful life span. In the case of older buildings, the useful life span has no relation to 
reality, unless we use extremely long life spans that render the depreciation amounts negligible.  

The wide range of ages of such assets means that straight-line depreciation over a generally accepted life 
span is not a very satisfactory solution. The drawback of this method is that it would depreciate ancient 
assets that are still used in the performance of the central government’s usual tasks using the same 
depreciation rules as those used for recent assets. The useful life span under these rules would fail to 
cover the actual age of these assets. Furthermore, the date on which they are initially recognized in the 
financial statements is necessarily an arbitrary choice that has a major impact on future depreciation. This 
means it is bound to be difficult to come up with an uncontested solution. Finally, the residual value is 
usually quite high, even though it cannot be reliably determined.  

However, unlike a business whose start-up date is known precisely, one of the specific characteristics of 
central government is the long-standing nature of its activity as a result of which historical cost, which is 
either an acquisition or a production cost may either be unknown or without signification because it is so 
old. Because historical cost cannot be determined a valuation is necessary and market value is an 
available recent indicator, even when it is not directly observable. 

For this reason assets with a very long life and a significant residual value are measured at market value 
and are not depreciated.  

Equity Investments 

The Central Government owns a portfolio of shares in companies. These shares are generally held as 
long-term investments. 

The Central Government also “owns” many other entities and enterprises that have not been incorporated 
as companies. The ownership rights result from the legal status of these entities under public law. These 
entities are assets that must be included when determining net assets/equity. As in the case of property, 
the acquisition cost of certain entities is unknown or not significant because of the uncertainty sometimes 
surrounding the legal status of assets used by these entities. The lack of a clear and complete definition of 
the relationship between Central Government and its “subsidiaries” clearly has an effect on the accounts, 
including those of the said subsidiaries. 

The measurement of equity investments using the general rule and the systematic extension of the rule to 
other entities in which Central Government holds an interest is likely to lead to inconsistent and 
somewhat meaningless amounts. In the interests of consistency these elements shall be measured 
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according to the equity method10. This method needs to be adapted to take account of certain specific 
characteristics. 

                                                 
10 This method requires the investment to be measured each year at an amount reflecting the investor’s share of the net assets of the 

investee, subject to certain conditions and adjustments which it is not necessary to go into at this stage. 
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GLOSSARY 

Accrued expenses 
 

Accrued expenses are certain liabilities the amount or the timing of which are sometimes 
estimated but with a lesser degree of uncertainty than for provisions for risks and liabilities. 
Consequently, accrued expenses are reported with debts and include similar elements. 

Active market 

Market in which the items traded are homogenous, willing buyers and sellers can normally be 
found at any time and prices are available to the public. 

Asset 

An asset is a balance sheet item that has a positive economic value for the Central Government, 
meaning a resource controlled by the government as a result of past events that is expected to 
produce economic benefits in the future. The future economic benefits for the government mean 
either cash flowing to the government from the use of the asset or the potential production of 
services expected from the use of the asset for the benefit of the government or third parties, in 
keeping with its tasks or purpose. 

In the Central Government’s separate financial statements, control over the resource is to be 
understood as direct control, meaning direct control of the asset by entities within the Central 
Government structure. Therefore, assets controlled by entities that are incorporated as separate 
legal entities under the control of the Central Government are not represented in this way in the 
Central Government’s separate financial statements. 

Beneficiary of Central Government transfers 

Categories stipulated in Article 5 of the Constitutional bylaw. 

The end beneficiaries of specific public policy measures or systems in the case of transfers 
made directly by the Central Government and in the case of indirect transfers made through 
redistribution bodies. 

There are four categories of beneficiaries: 

- households, which are individuals or groups of individuals considered as consumers; 

- enterprises, which are production units for goods and services, regardless of their legal 
structure, as long as the sales of their goods and services cover more than 50% of their 
production costs. This includes agricultural and non-agricultural individual enterprises, 
financial and non-financial corporations in the public and private sectors, national public 
establishments in industry and trade and all other entities that meet the sales revenue 
criterion mentioned above; 

- local and regional authorities, which are local and regional authorities per se, meaning 
communes, départements, regions and their affiliated or associated public establishments, 
along with public establishments with territorial responsibilities; 

- other entities, which are entities incorporated under public law, private law or international 
law that do not belong to the other categories defined above. 
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Carrying amount 

Amount at which an asset is recognised in the financial statements after deducting 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Central Government equity investments 

Interests that the Central Government holds in other entities, which may or may not be 
represented by equity instruments and which create lasting links with the other entities. The 
rights may stem from: 

- ownership of shares in the entities concerned or, 

- the legal status of the entities concerned, or 

- Central Government control (as defined in the Standard) over these entities. 

Central Government financial assets 

A group of fixed assets that includes equity investments and the related receivables, along with 
loans and advances. 

Central Government financial revenues 

Revenues derived from financial assets, cash, financial debts and derivative financial instruments. 
This does not include foreign exchange gains on transactions other than those related to Central 
Government financing and its cash position. 

Central Government intervention expenses 

Intervention expenses are payments that the Central Government makes as part of its economic 
and social regulation role. These payments are made: 

- as part of aid and support distribution schemes to different categories of beneficiary, 
either directly by Central Government departments or indirectly via independent 
organisations; 

- in application of the guarantee of Central Government. 

Intervention expenses comprise mainly transfers and payments made in application of Central 
Government guarantees, which are a budget expense category included in constitutional bylaw. 

Central Government staff costs 

Compensation of employees in cash and sometimes in kind, along with the expenses related to 
this compensation. 

Contingent liability 

A possible Central Government obligation towards another party that arises from past events 
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 
more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Central Government; or a 
Central Government obligation that is not likely or certain to give rise to an outflow of resources 
necessary to settle the obligation.  
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Control of an entity 

The Central Government’s power to govern the operating and financial activities of another entity 
so as to benefit from and/or bear the risks of such activities. 

 
Control of a tangible asset 

The Central Government’s power to govern the service potential and/or future economic benefits 
derived from the use of the asset. Furthermore, the fact that the Central Government bears the 
risks and expenses incurred in holding the asset shall also constitute a presumption of control. 

  Current assets 

Assets that, because of their purpose or nature, are not intended for long-term use in the course of 
the Central Government’s activity. 

Current replacement cost 

The cost the Central Government would incur to acquire the asset at the reporting date. 

Debt 

A certain liability with a precisely defined amount and maturity date (French General Chart of 
Accounts, Article 212-2). 

Deferral Accounts 

Deferral accounts are used for the periodic allocation of expense and revenue, to ensure that the 
expense and revenue that effectively relate to each period, and only that expense and revenue, 
are recognized in that period. 

Depreciable amount 

Gross value of an asset less its residual value. 

Depreciable assets  

Assets with a useful life for the entity that can be determined, meaning a useful life limited in 
time and measurable. 

Depreciation 

Systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life 
 

Depreciated replacement cost 

Cost to be paid to replace the gross service potential of the asset. The cost is depreciated in 
line with the level of use of the asset. 

Depreciation schedule 

A representation of the allocation of the depreciable amount of the asset over time as the 
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expected economic benefits or service potential are consumed through the use that is likely to 
be made of it. 

Expense 

An expense is a decrease in assets or an increase in liabilities that is not directly offset by the 
entry of a new asset or a decrease in liabilities. An expense corresponds either to the 
consumption of resources in the production of goods or services, or to an obligation to make a 
payment to another party necessary to settle the obligation towards that other party. 

Fair value 

Amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability extinguished between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 

Financial debt 

Debts arising as a result of a financing decision on the part of the Central Government. The 
counterpart to this debt is either funds for financing the Central Government that are 
redeemable in the future and give rise to remuneration or the counterpart is an asset that the 
debt is intended to finance. 

Financial expenses 

Expenses arising from financial debts, derivative financial instruments, cash position and 
financial fixed assets. They do not include bank service charges, penalties for late payments or 
interest and exchange rate losses on transactions other than those related to financing and cash 
position. 

Finance lease 

A lease that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the 
asset to the lessee. Title may or may not eventually be transferred (IAS 17). 

Fixed assets 

Assets intended for long-term use in the course of the Central Government’s activity. 

Gross value 

Value of an asset on initial recognition or after revaluation. 

Impairment loss 

Loss of future economic benefits or service potential from an asset, on top of normal depreciation. 
Impairment of an asset occurs when the recoverable amount of an asset is lower than the net 
carrying amount. 

Indirect operating expenses 

Indirect operating expenses are payments made by Central Government to fund the operating costs 
of entities to which it has delegated the implementation, under its supervision, of public policies for 
which it is directly responsible. 
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Indirect operating costs consist mainly of subsidies for public service expenses, which are a 
category of budgetary expense under constitutional bylaw. 

 
Intangible Assets 

Non-monetary assets with no physical substance held either to produce or provide goods and 
services, or to be rented to others, or for administrative purposes, and expected to be used over 
more than one period. 

Intervention revenues 

Revenues received with no equivalent value in exchange for the other party. 

Inventories 

Central Government assets: 

- in the form of raw materials or supplies to be consumed in a production process; 

- in the form of raw materials or supplies to be consumed in the rendering of services; 

- held for sale or distribution in the ordinary course of Central Government activities; or  

- in the process of production for sale or distribution. 

 
Liability 

A liability is an obligation towards another party at the reporting date, which at the date the 
accounts are finalised, will probably or certainly give rise to an outflow of resources necessary to 
settle the obligation towards the other party. 

Loans and advances granted by the Central Government 

Funds paid to other parties under contractual provisions by which the Central Government 
undertakes to transfer the use of means of payment to natural and legal persons for a certain period. 

Loans are granted for a term of more than 4 years and advances are granted for a term of 2 years, 
which can be renewed once with explicit authorisation. 

Net selling price 

The amount that could be obtained at the reporting date for the sale of an asset in an arm’s length 
transaction, less disposal costs (French General Chart of Accounts 322-1). This is the same concept 
as the “net selling price” found in IAS 36 and in the draft IPSAS on asset impairment. 

Operating expenses 

Expenses arising from the Central Government’s ordinary activities. These include direct operating 
expenses and indirect operating expenses. 

Operating revenues 

Revenues arising from the Central Government’s ordinary activities. 
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Other liabilities 

Other liabilities are, by nature, a category of liabilities specific to Central Government, corresponding 
to liabilities with a precisely defined amount and uncertain timing. 

 
Prepaid revenue 
 

Prepaid revenue is recognized when revenue received or recognized by the Central Government at the 
reporting date, is in respect of services to be performed, or goods to be delivered after the reporting 
date.  

It represents an obligation of Central Government towards the beneficiary of the outstanding service to 
be performed or goods to be delivered. 

Provisions for risks and liabilities 

Liabilities of uncertain timing or amount (French General Chart of Accounts, Article 212-3). 

Recoverable amount 

The greater of the net selling price or the value in use (Article 322-1 of the French General Chart of 
Accounts). Equivalent to the “recoverable amount”concept used in IAS 36 and in the IFAC proposal 
for a standard on “impairment of assets”. 

Reporting date value 

According to paragraph 5 of Article 7 of the Order of 29 November 1983, reporting date value 
is equal to the recoverable amount 20. However, when the reporting date value of a non-financial 
asset is not considered to be substantially lower than its net carrying amount, the latter is 
deemed to be the reporting date value. 

Residual amount 

Net amount that the Central Government expects to obtain for an asset after the end of its useful life, 
less expected disposal costs. 

Revenue 

Increases in assets or a decrease in liabilities that are not offset by the disposal of an asset or an 
increase in liabilities. In the case of the Central Government, there is a distinction made between 
sovereign revenues, which constitute its main source of funds, and revenues that correspond to sales of 
goods and services or the use by other entities of assets generating royalties, interest or dividends. 
Only revenues in the second category can be matched to expenses. 

Sovereign revenues 

Revenues arising from the exercise of the Central Government’s sovereign powers. These are revenues 
from other parties that do not directly receive a resource of equivalent value in exchange. 

                                                 
20 The decree defines the recoverable amount as an estimate made on the basis of the market and the utility of the asset for the 
enterprise. 
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Tangible Assets 

Identifiable tangible assets that are usually identified in a physical inventory, expected to be 
used over more than one period and embody a positive economic value for the entity using 
them. In the case of the Central Government, this value is represented by the expected future 
economic benefits or service potential from the use of the asset. 

Value in use 

Value of the future economic benefits expected from the use and disposal of an asset. It is 
calculated on the basis of the estimated future economic benefits. As a general rule, it is 
determined on the basis of expected net cash flows. If such cash flows are not meaningful for 
the entity, other criteria may be used to value the expected future benefits (French General Chart 
of Accounts, Article 322-1). When the Central Government owns assets that do not generate 
cash flows, the criterion used is the expected service potential.This is the same concept of 
“value in use” found in IAS 36 and in the draft IPSAS on asset impairment. 

 

Document dated July 12, 2012 


